PICKENS COUNTY

SOUTH CAROLINA

COUNCIL MEMBERS COUNTY ADMINISTRATOR

CHRIS BOWERS, CHAIRMAN KEN ROPER
ROY COSTNER, VICE CHAIRMAN
ALEX SAITTA, VICE CHAIR PRO-TEM
C. CLAIBORNE LINVILL
CHRIS LOLLIS

HENRY WILSON

CLERK TO COUNCIL
MEAGAN NATIONS

Monday, August 7, 2023
6:30 PM
Auditorium, County Administration Facility
222 McDaniel Avenue, Pickens SC 29671

All meetings of Pickens County Council are held in accordance with the South Carolina Freedom of
Information Act, Section 30-4-70, et seq. of the Code of Laws of South Carolina, 1976, as amended, as well
as the Organizational Rules for Pickens County Council.

WELCOME AND CALL TO ORDER: Chairman Chris Bowers
INVOCATION AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE: Vice Chairman Roy Costner
PUBLIC FORUM.

County Council hosts a public forum at its first regularly scheduled meeting of each month. Individuals
wishing to speak during Public Forum should contact the Clerk to Council in advance of the meeting.
Comments are limited to 3 minutes per participant and 30 minutes in total.

. APPROVAL OF MINUTES:
= July 10, 2023
= July 17, 2023 - Special-Called Meeting

. ADMINISTRATOR’S REPORT
Updates from the County Administrator on operations, personnel, or other day-to-day matters.

COMMITTEE REPORTS
a) Committee of the Whole — July 17, 2023
1) Log No. 214 — Sewer Capacity
2) Log No. 211 —2023 ATAX Funding Applications
3) Log No. 215 - Council Rules

COUNCIL CORRESPONDENCE
Notification of future meeting dates and/or changes as well as community dates of interest.

MOTION PERIOD AND NEW BUSINESS
Matters can be added to the agenda by appropriate motion, second, and unanimous vote of council.

222 MCDANIEL AVENUE, B-1 - PICKENS, SC 29671 - 864.898.5856 - WWW.CO.PICKENS.SC.US


http://www.co.pickens.sc.us/

8.

9.

10.

1.

12.

13.

14.

15.

16.

ORDINANCES FOR FIRST READING AND/OR RESOLUTIONS:

a) CONSIDERATION OF A RESOLUTION DECLARING AUGUST 23 AS C. DAVID STONE DAY IN
PICKENS COUNTY

b) FIRST READING IN TITLE ONLY OF AN ORDINANCE No. 627 AUTHORIZING AND
APPROVING (1) THE DEVELOPMENT OF A JOINT COUNTY INDUSTRIAL AND BUSINESS
PARK PURSUANT TO SECTION 4-1-170 OF THE CODE OF LAWS OF SOUTH CAROLINA
1976, AS AMENDED, IN CONJUNCTION WITH OCONEE COUNTY (THE “PARK"), SUCH
PARK TO BE GEOGRAPHICALLY LOCATED IN OCONEE COUNTY; (2) THE EXECUTION
AND DELIVERY OF AWRITTEN PARK AGREEMENT WITH OCONEE COUNTY AS TO THE
REQUIREMENT OF PAYMENTS OF FEE IN LIEU OF AD VALOREM TAXES WITH RESPECT
TO PARK PROPERTY AND THE SHARING OF THE REVENUES AND EXPENSES OF THE
PARK; (3) THE DISTRIBUTION OF REVENUES FROM THE PARK WITHIN PICKENS
COUNTY:; AND (4) OTHER MATTERS RELATED THERETO.

ORDINANCES FOR SECOND READING:

ORDINANCES FOR THIRD READING:

a) THIRD READING OF AN ORDINANCE No. 625 REGARDING AMENDMENTS TO CHAPTER 6
OF THE PICKENS COUNTY CODE OF ORDINANCES SPECIFIC TO THE OPERATIONS OF
THE PICKENS COUNTY AIRPORT AND MATTERS RELATED THERETO.

b) PUBLIC HEARING AND THIRD READING OF AN ORDINANCE No. 626 TO PROVIDE FOR THE
ISSUANCE AND SALE OF NOT EXCEEDING TWELVE MILLION SEVEN HUNDRED FIFTY
THOUSAND DOLLARS ($12,750,000) AGGREGATE PRINCIPAL AMOUNT OF GENERAL
OBLIGATION BONDS OF PICKENS COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA, TO PRESCRIBE THE
PURPOSES FOR WHICH THE PROCEEDS SHALL BE EXPENDED, TO PROVIDE FOR THE
PAYMENT THEREOF, AND TO PROVIDE FOR OTHER MATTERS RELATED THERETO.

OTHER REQUEST AGENDA ITEMS:
a) PROPOSED UPDATES TO CATEECHEE POINT PARK AND SOURCE OF AVAILABLE
FUNDING

CONSENT AGENDA:
Routine matters and resolutions, as well as subject referrals to Council committees, can be accomplished
by one vote via the Council's Consent Agenda.

a) Administration Roof Replacement — Committee of the Whole

b) Emergency Services — Committee of the Whole

EXECUTIVE SESSION
S.C. Code of Laws, Section 30-4-70 (A) allows that specifically delineated and qualifying matters may be
discussed outside the presence of the public.

Personnel- Section 30-4-70 (a) (5)
= Personnel - County Employee Recognition

ACTION ON EXECUTIVE SESSION ITEMS (as needed)
While the SC Freedom of Information Act allows for certain matters to be discussed outside the presence of
the public, any votes on such matters can only take place once Council has returned to public session.

APPOINTMENTS TO BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS

ADJOURN

222 MCDANIEL AVENUE, B-1 - PICKENS, SC 29671 - 864.898.5856 - WWW.CO.PICKENS.SC.US


http://www.co.pickens.sc.us/

No. 3:
APPROVAL OF MINUTES

= July 10, 2023
= July 17, 2023 - Special-Called Meeting



Regular Pickens County Council Meeting
July 10, 2023
6:30 PM

County Council met in regular session, in the Auditorium of the County Administration Facility, with
Chairman Chris Bowers presiding. Final agendas, bearing date, time, and location of meeting were mailed to
members of council and local news media on July 6, 2023.

Council Members in Attendance:
Chris Bowers, Chairman

Roy Costner, Vice Chairman

Alex Saitta, Vice Chairman Pro-Tem
Chris Lollis

Henry Wilson

C. Claiborne Linvill

Staff in Attendance:

Ken Roper, County Administrator
Les Hendricks, Contract Attorney
Meagan Nations, Clerk to Council

WELCOME AND CALL TO ORDER:
Chairman Chris Bowers called the meeting of July 10, 2023 to order and welcomed those in
attendance. Councilman Chris Lollis led the Invocation and the Pledge of Allegiance.

PUBLIC FORUM:
Chairman Chris Bowers opened the Public Forum and requested the Clerk to call upon the
citizens signed up to speak.
1. Rick Kruska: Mr. Kruska addressed Council regarding a Public Safety Issue on Hwy 93.

2. David Hall: Mr. Hall addressed Council regarding Boards and Commissions.

3. Johnnelle Raines: Ms. Raines addressed Council regarding Boards and Commissions, and the
AFC Resolution.

4. Allan Quinn: Mr. Quinn addressed Council regarding Boards and Commissions.

5. Deborah Smith: Ms. Smith addressed Council regarding Boards and Commissions.

APPROVAL OF MINUTES:
Chairman Chris Bowers called for a motion to approve the following minutes as presented:

o Juneb, 2023 Regular-Called Council Meeting
o June 8, 2023 Budget Work Session
o June 19, 2023 Special-Called Meeting

Minutes for July 10, 2023 Pickens County Council Meeting

1



o Motion was made by Councilwoman Claiborne Linvill, and seconded by Councilman Chris
Lollis. Chairman Bowers asked if there was any discussion. Seeing none, the motion carried (6-
0).

ADMINISTRATOR’S REPORT:
Mr. Roper addressed Council on the following:
e 2023 Council Goals — People, Purpose, Plan
New EMS Director — Meredith Teske
Future Dates for Public Meetings regarding UDSO
Discussion on Recycling Education
SC7 Expedition in Pickens County
Interagency Collaboration for the City of Pickens Independence Day Spectacular Event

Council asked Mr. Roper questions that included, but was not limited to:
e Question regarding Hagood Mill Foundation Architectural Plan for Sprinklers

COMMITTEE REPORT for 6/19/23:

The Committee of the Whole met in Council Chambers, at the Pickens County Administration Facility, on
Monday, June 19, 2023. All members of the committee were in attendance with Chairman Chris Bowers
presiding. Councilman Chris Lollis led the Invocation and Pledge of Allegiance.

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE:

COUNCIL RULES - Log No. 215
¢+ Due to the time, Council decided to move this Log item to the next Committee of the Whole meeting. Motion
was made by Vice Chairman Roy Costner, seconded by Councilman Alex Saitta and carried (5-0). Councilwoman

Claiborne Linvill was not present when this vote took place.

2023 RECREATION FUNDING APPLICATIONS — Log No. 210
= Chairman Chris Bowers stated we moved forward with some of these requests already, but District 3 and District
6 council members requested more time at the previous meeting.
= Council and staff had very detailed discussion that included, but was not limited to:
= Hagood Mill:
= Election of Board Members
= Status of buying the doors for the Pavilion
= Update from Hagood Mill Director Billy Gibson
e  Pavilion doors
e Enclose the pavilion
e  Waiting on a few more quotes before sending to the County for procurement process
to put out to bid
= Councilman Alex Saitta stated he would like to wait two months to see the final numbers before
allocating money to Hagood Mill.

= City of Pickens:
= Discussion of Bruce Field
= Discussion of JC Park
o Councilman Alex Saitta made a motion to give the City of Pickens $50,000 of
recreation funding to be used towards JC Park. Chairman Chris Bowers seconded the
motion.

e Councilman Alex Saitta stated the City of Pickens need to look at Bruce

Minutes for July 10, 2023 Pickens County Council Meeting

2



Field closely and do a better job on keeping it up.
o Seeing no other discussion, the motion carried unanimously (6-0).

= Dacusville Recreation:
e  Discussion on their request regarding scoreboards & bleachers
o Councilman Henry Wilson made a motion to allocate $58,194.69 of Recreation
Funding to Dacusville Recreation. Motion was seconded by Chairman Chris Bowers.
Motion carried unanimously (6-0).

= Dacusville Community Center:
e Discussion on renovation of Kitchen at Dacusville Community Center
e  Councilman Wilson stated he would like more information before moving forward
with this request.

7

%+ Councilman Alex Saitta made a motion to give the City of Pickens $50,000 of recreation funding to be used
towards JC Park. Chairman Chris Bowers seconded the motion. Seeing no other discussion, the motion carried
unanimously (6-0).

7

¢ Councilman Henry Wilson made a mation to allocate $58,194.69 of Recreation Funding to Dacusville
Recreation. Motion was seconded by Chairman Chris Bowers. Motion carried unanimously (6-0).

Council Action on Log No. 210:
e Councilman Alex Saitta made a motion to give the City of Pickens $50,000 of recreation funding to
be used towards JC Park. Chairman Chris Bowers seconded the motion. Seeing no other discussion,
the motion carried unanimously (6-0).

e Councilman Henry Wilson made a motion to allocate $58,194.69 of Recreation Funding to
Dacusville Recreation. Motion was seconded by Chairman Chris Bowers. Motion carried
unanimously (6-0).

Chairman Chris Bowers stated no second is required as this comes as a recommendation from the Committee.
He asked if Council had any discussion. Seeing none, the motion carried unanimously (6-0).

2023 ATAX FUNDING APPLICATIONS - Log No. 211
= Allison Fowler, Director of Community Development and Tourism, gave an overview of the ATAX applications
and recommendations from the Committee.
= Council and staff had very detailed discussion that included, but was not limited to:
= Discussion on Greater Pickens Chamber of Commerce request
= Discussion on Brooks Center for Performing Arts request
= Discussion on Pickens View Wesleyan Church request
= Councilman Henry Wilson made a motion to fund the full amount requested, which is $7,408,
to Pickens View Wesleyan Church for the Live Nativity event. Motion was seconded by
Councilman Alex Saitta and carried (5-0), with Councilwoman Claiborne Linvill abstained.

= Councilman Henry Wilson made a motion to approve all requests recommended from the Accommodations
Tax Committee. Motion was seconded by Councilwoman Claiborne Linvill. Chairman Bowers asked if
there was any discussion:
= Council and staff had detailed discussion that included:
= City of Pickens Independence Day Event

Minutes for July 10, 2023 Pickens County Council Meeting

3



= ATAX Rules on submitting late applications

Councilman Henry Wilson made a motion to allocate $7,000 to the City of Pickens for the Independence
Day event. Motion was seconded by Chairman Chris Bowers. Discussion included:
= Question regarding State Law on approving ATAX applications after deadline
= Discussion on campaign events using ATAX Funding
o  Chairman Bowers made a substitute motion to set aside this amount of funding pending the
outcome of research from County Attorney on campaign laws. Motion was seconded by Vice
Chairman Roy Costner and carried unanimously (6-0).
Councilman Henry Wilson retracted his motion.

After more discussion, Vice Chairman Roy Costner made a motion to allow any organization to come
before Council to apply for ATAX Funding, even after the application deadline period. Motion was
seconded by Chairman Chris Bowers. Discussion included:
o Chairman Chris Bowers amended the motion, stating the application must be turned in and
approved by October 1% each fiscal year. Motion was seconded Vice Chairman Roy Costner and

carried unanimously (6-0).
o Seeing no other discussion, the original motion carried (6-0).

Ref | Name of | Name Recommended Comments
No. | Organization of Project Amount
1 Holly Springs Home and $ 3,200
Center Handcrafters Fair
2 POSAM Winter Bluegrass | $ 12,000
Jubilee
3 Brooks Center for | Advertising $ 20,000
Performing Arts
4 Discover Marketing $ 15,000
Upcountry
Carolina
Association
5 Greater Pickens 1%t Annual Pickens | $ 10,000
Chamber of Appalachian Folk
Commerce Fest
6 Lake Hartwell County Marketing | $ 5,000
Country and Promaotion
7 Hagood Mil Selugada — Native | $ 10,000
Foundation American
Celebration
8 Pickens Rotary Ride to the Rock $ 1,200
Club
9 Pickens County Brochures $ 2,000
250 Committee
10 | Pickens County Veterans $ 8,130
VA Appreciation
Parade and
Patriotic Show

Minutes for July 10, 2023 Pickens County Council Meeting

4




11 | Pickens Azalea Marketing and $ 12,000
Festival entertainment

12 | Clemson Aquatic | Clemson Aquatic |$ 15,536
Team Team Meets

13 | Central Parks & HUK Disc Golf $ 4,000
Recreation Tournament
Department

14 | Pickens View Live Nativity $ 7,408
Wesleyan Church

15 | Senior League Marketing of $ 30,000
World Series Event

TOTAL $ | 155,474.00

Council Action on Log No. 210:

Councilman Henry Wilson made a motion to approve all requests recommended from the
Accommodations Tax Committee. Motion was seconded by Councilwoman Claiborne Linvill.

Councilman Henry Wilson made a motion to allocate $7,000 to the City of Pickens for the
Independence Day event. Motion was seconded by Chairman Chris Bowers.
e Chairman Bowers made a substitute motion to set aside this amount of funding pending the
outcome of research from County Attorney on campaign laws. Motion was seconded by Vice
Chairman Roy Costner and carried unanimously (6-0).

Vice Chairman Roy Costner made a motion to allow any organization to come before Council to apply
for ATAX Funding, even after the application deadline period. Motion was seconded by Chairman
Chris Bowers.

Chairman Chris Bowers stated no second is required as this comes as a recommendation from the Committee.
He asked if Council had any discussion. Seeing none, the motion carried unanimously (6-0).

ADJOURN:

Hearing no further Committee business, Chairman Chris Bowers called for a motion to adjourn.

Motion was made by Vice Chairman Roy Costner, seconded by Councilman Henry Wilson and carried
unanimously (6-0). Meeting was adjourned at 9:04 p.m.

COUNCIL CORRESPONDENCE:
Chairman Chris Bowers announced the following:

A Special Called Meeting and the Committee of the Whole meeting will take place on Monday,
July 17, 2023, at 6:00 p.m. in the Main Conference Room of the Administration Building.

The next Council meeting will be held on Monday, August 7, at 6:30 p.m. in Council Chambers of
the Administration Building.

Non-Essential County Offices will be closed on Tuesday, July 4™ for the Independence Day
Holiday.

Chairman Bowers called for other council correspondence.
Seeing no other correspondence, Chairman Bowers announced moving to Motion Period and New
Business.

Minutes for July 10, 2023 Pickens County Council Meeting

5




MOTION PERIOD AND NEW BUSINESS:
Chairman Chris Bowers opened the floor for motion period and new business.

e Vice Chairman Roy Costner made a motion to move our discussion of boards and commissions
out of executive session to be discussed after the normal application period. The motion was
seconded by Councilman Alex Saitta. Discussion included:

= Councilwoman Claiborne Linvill made an amended motion to make the deadline August
15™. Motion was seconded by Councilman Henry Wilson. Discussion on the amendment
included:
= The Library board still has enough members for a quorum so it is still an active
working board that can meet currently.
= Boards and Commissions Notebook with clear expectations for board members
= After much more discussion, the amended motion failed (1-5), with Councilwoman
Claiborne Linvill in favor of the motion.
e Regarding the original motion, the motion carried 6-0.

Seeing no discussion, Chairman Bowers closed the floor.

ORDINANCES FOR FIRST READING AND/OR RESOLUTIONS:
a) CONSIDERATION OF A RESOLUTION PROVIDING FOR PICKENS COUNTY TO

BECOME A MEMBER OF THE AMERICAN FLOOD COALITION
o Councilwoman Claiborne Linvill made a motion to consider this Resolution.
Chairman Chris Bowers seconded the motion. Discussion included:
= Councilman Chris Lollis stated he researched and he is not sure of the
benefit of joining this coalition.
= The Administrator went into discussion on the benefit of joining this
coalition.
= The Administrator stated it does not cost the county anything to join the
organization.

o After much more discussion between Council and the Administrator, Councilman
Henry Wilson made a motion to table this discussion to the Committee of the
Whole for further discussion. Motion was seconded by Chairman Chris Bowers.

= Councilman Alex Saitta went into discussion on why he will not be
voting in favor of this Resolution, as well as sending to Committee.

o The amended motion carried (4-2), with Councilman Alex Saitta and
Councilman Chris Lollis opposed.

b) FIRST READING IN TITLE ONLY OF AN ORDINANCE TO PROVIDE FOR THE
ISSUANCE AND SALE OF NOT EXCEEDING TWELVE MILLION SEVEN
HUNDRED FIFTY THOUSAND DOLLARS ($12,750,000) AGGREGATE
PRINCIPAL AMOUNT OF GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS OF PICKENS
COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA, TO PRESCRIBE THE PURPOSES FOR WHICH
THE PROCEEDS SHALL BE EXPENDED, TO PROVIDE FOR THE PAYMENT
THEREOF, AND TO PROVIDE FOR OTHER MATTERS RELATED THERETO.

o Councilman Henry Wilson made a motion to constitute first reading in title only.
Motion was seconded by Councilman Roy Costner. Discussion included:

Minutes for July 10, 2023 Pickens County Council Meeting

6



= The Administrator discussed in great lengths the overall strategy of this
funding, which is aimed at improvements at SC Hwy 183.

= Councilman Alex Saitta went into discussion on his top priorities for roads
in Pickens County.

= Discussion on list of fatalities/wrecks on major roads in Pickens County

= Discussion on ACOG and GPATS Information

o After much more discussion, the motion carried (4-1), with Councilman Alex
Saitta opposed.

ORDINANCES FOR SECOND READING
None

ORDINANCES FOR THIRD READING
a) THIRD READING OF AN ORDINANCE No. 625 REGARDING AMENDMENTS TO
CHAPTER 6 OF THE PICKENS COUNTY CODE OF ORDINANCES SPECIFICTO
THE OPERATIONS OF THE PICKENS COUNTY AIRPORT AND MATTERS
RELATED THERETO.
o Mr. Roper stated we have continued to pursue further appeal rights for this which
we consider to be a requirement coming from the FAA that would make our
airport less safe. He asked that Council reschedule third reading to August 7"
Council Meeting to give time for the FAA to answer us from their D.C. Office
for us to be exhausted all of our administrative remedies.

OTHER REQUEST AGENDA ITEMS:
None

CONSENT AGENDA
a) Workforce/Childcare Task Force
b) Proposed Changes to Pickens County Solid Waste Management Plan to ad hoc Solid Waste
Committee

o Chairman Chris Bowers asked for a motion to approve the Consent Agenda. Motion was made by
Councilwoman Claiborne Linvill and Councilman Henry Wilson. Discussion included:

e Councilman Alex Saitta asked for explanation on Workforce/Childcare Task Force and the
intent.

e Councilwoman Claiborne Linvill stated she asked for this to be added to Consent. She
stated she has started some research on the effect of Child Care availability on the ability
of our workforce and it has started a couple of conversations. She stated she was advised
that she could bring more people together to have a better conversation to create a task
force to discuss how child care affects our ability to hire people and keep people working
in Pickens County. She stated she does not know that County Council or Government has
a role to fix the problem, but she believes we have a role to acknowledge it.

e Councilman Saitta stated he just doesn’t know what the role of government has to do with
this item and he opposes. He stated he also opposes sending the proposed changes to the
Pickens County Solid Waste Management Plan to ad hoc and went into discussion on why
he opposes sending to committee.

Minutes for July 10, 2023 Pickens County Council Meeting

7



o After much more discussion, the motion carried (5-1), with Councilman Alex Saitta opposed.

EXECUTIVE SESSION: S.C. Code of Laws, Section 30-4-70 (a):

Chairman Chris Bowers called for a motion to convene into Executive Session as defined by S.C. Code of
Laws, Section 30-4-70 (a). Chairman Bowers further stated that each issue would be discussed as the
Law provides.

Contractual — Section 30-4-70 (a) (5)
e Project Farmhouse

o Motion was made by Vice Chairman Roy Costner, seconded by Councilman Chris Lollis and
carried unanimously (6-0), to convene in executive session for the stated purposes after a five-
minute recess.

ACTION AS NEEDED VIA EXECUTIVE SESSION ITEMS:
Chairman Chris Bowers called the Public Session back to Order and advised the following:

Contractual — Section 30-4-70 (a) (5)
e Project Farmhouse — No Action taken

ADJOURN:

Hearing no further Council business, Vice Chairman Roy Costner made a motion to adjourn. The
motion was seconded by Councilman Henry Wilson and carried unanimously (6-0). Pickens County
Council stood adjourned at 8:46 p.m.

Respectively Submitted: Approved:

Meagan Nations, Clerk to Council Chris Bowers, Chairman of County Council

Minutes for July 10, 2023 Pickens County Council Meeting

8



Special-Called Pickens County Council Meeting
July 17, 2023
6:00 PM

County Council met in special-called session, in the Main Conference Room of the County
Administration Facility, with Chairman Chris Bowers presiding. Final agendas, bearing date, time, and
location of meeting were mailed to members of council and local news media on July 12, 2023.

Council Members in Attendance:
Chris Bowers, Chairman

Roy Costner, Vice Chairman

Alex Saitta, Vice Chairman Pro-Tem
Chris Lollis

Henry Wilson

C. Claiborne Linvill

Staff in Attendance:

Ken Roper, County Administrator
Les Hendricks, Contract Attorney
Meagan Nations, Clerk to Council

WELCOME AND CALL TO ORDER:
Chairman Chris Bowers called the meeting of July 17, 2023 to order and welcomed those in
attendance. Councilman Alex Saitta led the Invocation and the Pledge of Allegiance.

SECOND READING OF AN ORDINANCE NO. 626 TO PROVIDE FOR THE ISSUANCE AND
SALE OF NOT EXCEEDING TWELVE MILLION SEVEN HUNDRED FIFTY THOUSAND
DOLLARS ($12,750,000) AGGREGATE PRINCIPAL AMOUNT OF GENERAL OBLIGATION
BONDS OF PICKENS COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA, TO PRESCRIBE THE PURPOSES FOR
WHICH THE PROCEEDS SHALL BE EXPENDED, TO PROVIDE FOR THE PAYMENT
THEREOF, AND TO PROVIDE FOR OTHER MATTERS RELATED THERETO.
Chairman Bowers asked for a motion to constitute second reading of this Ordinance.

o Motion was made by Councilman Henry Wilson and seconded by Vice Chairman Roy Costner.

Seeing no discussion, the motion carried (5-1), with Councilman Alex Saitta opposed.

ADJOURN:

Hearing no further Council business, Council adjourned the meeting to move to the Committee of
the Whole meeting. Motion was made by Councilman Chris Lollis, seconded by Councilwoman Claiborne
Linvill and carried unanimously (6-0). Pickens County Council stood adjourned at 6:07 p.m.

Respectively Submitted: Approved:

Meagan Nations, Clerk to Council Chris Bowers, Chairman of County Council

Minutes for July 17, 2023 Pickens County Council Meeting

1



No. 5:
COMMITTEE REPORT

Committee of the Whole
e Log No. 214 — Sewer Capacity
e Log No. 211 - 2023 ATAX Funding
Applications
e Log No. 215 - Council Rules



COMMITTEE OF COUNCIL AS A WHOLE REPORT

Council Members:

Chris Bowers, Chairman
Roy Costner, Vice Chairman
Chris Lollis

Alex Saitta

Henry Wilson

C. Claiborne Linvill

Staff in Attendance:

Ken Roper, County Administrator
Meagan Nations, Clerk to Council
Les Hendricks, Attorney

The Committee of the Whole met in Council Chambers, at the Pickens County Administration Facility,
on Monday, July 17, 2023. All members of the committee were in attendance with Chairman Chris
Bowers presiding. Councilman Alex Saitta led the Invocation and Pledge of Allegiance.

WELCOME AND CALL TO ORDER:
Chairman Chris Bowers called the Committee of the Whole meeting to order.

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE:

SEWER CAPACITY - Log No. 214

=  Administrator Ken Roper stated this is regarding a Sewer Capacity Study that Council has provided funding
for this year. He stated as we go into that service, we have two partners with us in our intergovernmental
agreement for sewer capacity which are the Town of Central and City of Liberty. He stated Andy Blondeau,
City of Clemson Administrator, approached him asking about potential for the City of Clemson to join in
with some type of sewer arrangement. Mr. Roper stated the Central and Liberty have passed resolutions
stating they believe it will be a good idea if we leave it into a joint study.

=  Mr. Blondeau went into discussion with Council on why he would like to join in on the study. He stated
he is asking for permission to see if Council will let help pay for the study and City of Clemson join in.

o After some discussion between Council, Chairman Chris Bowers made a motion allow the City of
Clemson into the sewer capacity study. Motion was seconded by Councilman Henry Wilson and
carried unanimously (6-0).

2023 ATAX FUNDING APPLICATIONS — Log No. 211
=  Council and staff had very detailed discussion that included, but was not limited to:
= City of Pickens Request for Independence Day Spectacular
= Total calculation cost for County to approach but not exceed $30,000
= City of Pickens spent less than $20,000

o Councilman Alex Saitta made a motion to allocate $7,000 of ATAX Funding to the City of

Pickens and reimburse the County $30,000 regarding the Independence Day Spectacular
Event. Motion was seconded by Councilman Henry Wilson. Discussion included:

Committee of the Whole Meeting Report —July 17, 2023



COMMITTEE OF COUNCIL AS A WHOLE REPORT

Councilwoman Linvill stated the City of Pickens did not submit a formal application
like all of the other organizations. She stated she realizes this is different but all
Council has received was a memo and she is wondering where the $7,000 is coming
from.

Discussion on invoicing the Trump Campaign for the expenses

Chairman Chris Bowers amended the original motion, stating he would like to bill
the campaign to see if they will help pay any expenses of the $30,000 and $7,000
before allocating the ATAX money. Motion was seconded by Councilwoman
Claiborne Linvill. Discussion included:

e Councilman Alex Saitta went into discussion on why he opposes this
amendment and original motion.

e Councilwoman Claiborne Linvill stated she feels it is important for this
Council to set a precedent that when it comes to Pickens County, we have
some obligations to understand that there will be police and EMS expenses,
and we would like for them to cover it because some campaigns have. She
stated she realizes it may not get paid because a contract wasn’t met, and
that is a whole other issue.

Seeing no other discussion on the amendment, the motion failed (1-5), with
Councilwoman Claiborne Linvill in favor.

Vice Chairman Roy Costner made an amended motion, stating he would like the City
of Pickens to fill out an application to be turned into the ATAX Committee and the
$7,000 to be contingent on the application. Motion was seconded by Councilman
Alex Saitta and approved unanimously (6-0).

After more discussion, Councilman Henry Wilson made a motion to amend the total
from $7,000 to $10,100 of ATAX Funding for the City of Pickens for life safety.
Motion was seconded by Councilman Alex Saitta. After some discussion, the motion
carried (5-1), with Councilwoman Claiborne Linvill opposed.

o Seeing no other discussion, the motion carried (5-1), with Councilwoman Claiborne Linvill
opposed.

UDSO - Log No. 141

=  Council and staff had very detailed discussion that included, but was not limited to:
= Comments from Public Meetings: Administrator Roper went into great detail on the following
concerns/comments from the Public Meetings that have been held:

Increase Open Space Requirements

Concern about Increased Traffic with Increased Development

Concern about Impact to the Roads with Increased Development

Concern about Storm Water Issues related to Increased Development/Tree and
Waterway Protections

Annexation

Committee of the Whole Meeting Report —July 17, 2023



COMMITTEE OF COUNCIL AS A WHOLE REPORT

=  Concern about Quality of Home Construction
=  Attainable Housing
= Increased Trash
= |mpact on Schools
= Hector Perez, Senior Manager of DTA Finance, gave Council a brief overview of a nexus study.

R/

% No Action Taken by the Committee.

COUNCIL RULES - Log No. 215
= Council and Staff had detailed discussion that was included, but not limited to:
= Discussion of Councilwoman Linvill’s request, Alternative Attendance by a member
= Councilwoman Linvill went into discussion on her proposed changes for Council
consideration regarding Alternative Attendance by a Member.

o Councilwoman Claiborne Linvill made a motion to amend the bylaws to allow
alternative attendance. Councilman Henry Wilson seconded the motion. Discussion
included:

= SCACRules on Alternative Attendance
= Capable of Technology at County Administration Building
= Excuses as to why Council Members are missing the meetings

o Seeing no other discussion, the motion carried (4-2), with Councilman Alex Saitta

and Councilman Chris Lollis opposed.

= Discussion of Vice Chairman Costner’s request, Rule 2, 2,1, section D
o Vice Chairman Costner made a motion to remove the following from Rule 2.1,
Section D: “No officer can serve more than two consecutive two-year terms in a
particular office.” Motion was seconded by Councilman Henry Wilson. Discussion
included:
=  Councilman Saitta went into discussion on why he will not be voting in
favor.
o The motion carried (5-1), with Councilman Alex Saitta opposed.

= Discussion on Rule 2, County Officers, Succession of the Office
e Attorney Les Hendricks went into discussion on this Rule.
o Councilman Henry Wilson made a motion to eliminate Section D in Rule 2.1.
Motion was seconded by Vice Chairman Roy Costner.
o Chairman Chris Bowers made a motion make language for all three

positions (Chair, Vice Chair, Vice Chair Pro-Tem) be in the events of their
vacancy, the position will be replaced by an election of Council. Motion
was seconded by Councilwoman Claiborne Linvill and carried (5-1), with
Councilman Alex Saitta opposed.

o The original motion carried (5-1), with Councilman Alex Saitta opposed.

Committee of the Whole Meeting Report —July 17, 2023



COMMITTEE OF COUNCIL AS A WHOLE REPORT

ADJOURN:

Hearing no further Committee business, Chairman Chris Bowers called for a motion to
adjourn. Motion was made by Councilman Henry Wilson, seconded by Vice Chairman Roy Costner
and carried unanimously (6-0). Meeting was adjourned at 8:07 p.m.

Committee of the Whole Meeting Report —July 17, 2023



RULE 2: COUNTY OFFICERS

2.1 The Council shall elect a Chair, Vice Chair, Vice Chair Pro Tempore, and such other
officers as it may deem necessary for terms as hereinafter set forth, at the initial meeting of
the Council in January following each General Election.

A Chair. The Council shall elect one of its members to serve as Chair for a term of two

~ (2) years. The Chair shall preside at all regular and spec1a1 meetings of the Council,
. shall execute, on behalf of the Council, all ordinances, resolutions, directives, bonds,
~ and other official instruments or documents, and shaIl have such other duties and

- perform such functions as are set forth in, these rules The Chair shall exercise no

~ authority over any elected officials of the county whose offlces were created either by
Constitution or by the general law of the state. Any vacancy- in the Chair shall be filled
by the Council for the unexpired portlon of the term.

B. Vice Chair. The Council shall elect one ofrts members to serve as Vice Chair for a two
(2) year term; in the event that the Chair shall be temporarlly absent or unable to
serve, the Vice Chair shall’ serve as Chair in hlS/hEl‘ stead and shall, during the time
necessary for such service, carry the authorlty powers and responsibility of the
Chair. Any vacancy in the Vice Chalr Shall be filled by the Council for the unexpired
portion of the tern i

.. C...Vice.Chair Pro Tempore JThe-Council shall.elect one of its. members to-serve-as-Vice—-. -
Chair Pro Tempore for a two (2) year term for the purpose of conducting meetings of
Council in the absence of the Chair and V1ce Chair. Any vacancy in the Vice Chair Pro
Tempore shall be fllled by the Councﬂ for the unexpired portion of the term.




No. 8:

ORDINANCES FOR FIRST READING AND/OR RESOLUTIONS:

a)

b)

CONSIDERATION OF A RESOLUTION DECLARING AUGUST 23 AS
C. DAVID STONE DAY IN PICKENS COUNTY

FIRST READING IN TITLE ONLY OF AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING AND
APPROVING (1) THE DEVELOPMENT OF A JOINT COUNTY INDUSTRIAL
AND BUSINESS PARK PURSUANT TO SECTION 4-1-170 OF THE CODE OF
LAWS OF SOUTH CAROLINA 1976, AS AMENDED, IN CONJUNCTION
WITH OCONEE COUNTY (THE “PARK”), SUCH PARK TO BE
GEOGRAPHICALLY LOCATED IN OCONEE COUNTY; (2) THE EXECUTION
AND DELIVERY OF A WRITTEN PARK AGREEMENT WITH OCONEE
COUNTY AS TO THE REQUIREMENT OF PAYMENTS OF FEE IN LIEU OF
AD VALOREM TAXES WITH RESPECT TO PARK PROPERTY AND THE
SHARING OF THE REVENUES AND EXPENSES OF THE PARK; (3) THE
DISTRIBUTION OF REVENUES FROM THE PARK WITHIN PICKENS
COUNTY; AND (4) OTHER MATTERS RELATED THERETO.



STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA )
RESOLUTION # 2023 -
COUNTY OF PICKENS )

A RESOLUTION DECLARING AUGUST 23 C. DAVID STONE DAY.

WHEREAS, C. David Stone served as Pickens County Sheriff for 44 years, from January 1, 1969
until December 31, 2012; and

WHEREAS, during his career he received the SLED Distinguished Associate Commendation, the
American Legion Outstanding Law Enforcement Award, the Strom Thurmond Award for
Excellence in Law Enforcement and the Order of the Palmetto; and

WHEREAS, Sheriff Stone was inducted into the South Carolina Law Enforcement Officers' Hall
of Fame for his meritorious service on October 17, 2019; and

WHEREAS, on August 23rd, 2013 an event was held at the Pickens County Law Enforcement
Center to Honor C. David Stone for his years of faithful service as Sheriff and to celebrate the
renaming of the L.E.C. Road to C. David Stone Road in Pickens;

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, the Pickens County Council proclaims August 23" as
C. David Stone Day in Pickens County and recognizes the renaming of the C. David Stone
Pickens County Law Enforcement Center to honor the years of service Sheriff Stone provided our
county.

Passed and approved, this day of , 2023.

COUNTY COUNCIL OF PICKENS COUNTY,
SOUTH CAROLINA

Chris Bowers, Chairman of County Council
Pickens County, South Carolina
(SEAL)

Attest:

Meagan Nations, Clerk of County Council
Pickens County, South Carolina



No. 10:

ORDINANCES FOR THIRD READING

a)

b)

THIRD READING OF AN ORDINANCE No. 625
REGARDING AMENDMENTS TO CHAPTER 6 OF THE
PICKENS COUNTY CODE OF ORDINANCES SPECIFIC
TO THE OPERATIONS OF THE PICKENS COUNTY
AIRPORT AND MATTERS RELATED THERETO.

PUBLIC HEARING AND THIRD READING OF AN
ORDINANCE TO PROVIDE FOR THE ISSUANCE AND
SALE OF NOT EXCEEDING TWELVE MILLION SEVEN
HUNDRED FIFTY THOUSAND DOLLARS ($12,750,000)
AGGREGATE PRINCIPAL AMOUNT OF GENERAL
OBLIGATION BONDS OF PICKENS COUNTY, SOUTH
CAROLINA, TO PRESCRIBE THE PURPOSES FOR
WHICH THE PROCEEDS SHALL BE EXPENDED, TO
PROVIDE FOR THE PAYMENT THEREOF, AND TO
PROVIDE FOR OTHER MATTERS RELATED THERETO.



Meagan Nations
L . ____________________________________________________|

from: Jessica Varney .

Sent: Friday, August 4, 2023 9:26 AM

To: Meagan Nations

Cc: Ken Roper

Subject: FW: Code Re Write Allowing off runway ultralights
Meagan,

This email chain will serve as the supporting documentation for Agenda Item 10.a.

Thank you,
Jessica

From: Carlos Salinas

Sent: Monday, July 31, 2023 10:28 AM

To: Les Hendricks <LHendricks@TheHendricksFirm.com>

Cc: lesesnehendricks@gmail.com; Ken Roper <kenr@co.pickens.sc.us>; Jessica Varney <jessicav@co.pickens.sc.us>
Subject: RE: Code Re Write Allowing off runway ultralights

() Takeoffs and landings. Unless an emergency situation is present, all takeoffs and landings shall be confined to the
runways. Provided however, takeoffs and landings of ultralight vehicles shall not be subject to this requirement, and shail instead be
yoverned by any and all regulations as may be promulgated pursuant fo the authority of Section 6-77 of this Code of Ordinances.

. CARLOS V. SALINAS
| AIRPORT ADMINISTRATOR
PICKENS COUNTY MRPORT
238 AIRPORT ROAD,
USERTY, 98 59657
o BeBBEMR
CSALINAS@CO PICKENS 80.U8
WVRECO PIGKENS SC.US

From: Lesesne Hendricks fmailto:lhendricks@thehendricksfirm.com]

Sent: Monday, July 31, 2023 10:24 AM

To: Carlos Salinas <¢salinas@co.pickens.sc.us>

Cc: lesesnehendricks@gmail.com; Ken Roper <kenr@co.pickens.sc.us>; Jessica Varney <jessicav@co.pickens.sc.us>
Subject: Re: Code Re Write Allowing off runway ultralights

Email Security Warning




THE FOLLOWING MESSAGE WAS SENT FROM AN EXTERNAIL E-MAIL ADDRESS. EXERCISE
EXTREME CAUTION WHEN OPENING ATTACHMENTS, CLICKING LINKS, OR EXCHANGING
"INFORMATION.

Carlos:
Will you send the final version of the ordinance, please? For whatever reason I cannot pull it up for review.
Les

L. Lesesne Hendricks, Jr.
The Hendricks Firm, LL.C

Post Office Box 665

(101-A North East Main Street)
Easley, South Carolina 29641
(864) 859-7160

Facsimile (864) 442-6312

LHendricks@TheHendricksFirm.com

Confidantiality Note: This transmission was sent from a law firm and may contain information

—which-is-privileged confidential,-and-protected-bythe-attorney-dlient-or-attomey-work -product-— ——-
privileges. If you are not the addressee, note that any disciosure, copying, distribution, or use of the
contents of this message is prohibited. If you have received this transmission in error, please destroy
it and notify me immediately via telephone or email.

On Mon, Jul 31, 2023 at 8:33 AM Carlos Salinas <csalinas@co.pickens.sc.us> wrote:
Les,

Do you have any inputs on this?
Ken, is this the markup your talking about?
[CARLOS]

From: Carlos Salinas
Sent: Wednesday, July 12, 2023 1:37 PM
To: Les Hendricks <[LHendricks@TheHendricksFirm.com™>; Les Hendricks
<LHendricks@TheHendricksFirm.com>; lesesnehendricks@email.com
Cec: Jessica Varney <jessicav(@co.pickens.sc.us>
Subject: Code Re Write Allowing off runway ultralights

" Importance: High




authority of Section 6-77 of this Code of Ordinances and the Admisnitrator.

[CARLOS]

From: Ken Roper

Sent: Friday, February 24, 2023 8:43 AM

To: Carlos Salinas <csalinas@co.pickens.sc.us<mailto:csalinas@co.pickens.s¢.ug>>
Ce: Jessica Varney <jessicav(@co.pickens.sc.us<mailto:jessicavi@co.pickens.sc.us>>
Subject: RE: Code Re Write

I think striking the entire subsection might have unintended consequences. I suggest the following:

(j)Takeoffs and landings. Unless an emergency situation is present, all takeoffs and landings shall be confined
to the runways. Provided however, takeoffs and landings of ultralight vehicles shall not be subject to this
requirement, and shall instead be governed by any and all regulations as may be promulgated pursuant to the
authority of Section 6-77 of this Code of Ordinances.

[Email Signature KR]

From: Carlos Salinas

Sent: Friday, February 24, 2023 8:33 AM

To: Ken Roper <kenr@co.pickens.sc.us<mailto:kenr@co.pickens.sc.us>>
Subject: Code Re Write

Ken,

In reviewing the code, my suggestion is to simply strike the section of takeoffs and landing (Sec. 6-76 ().

If we do this, it Limits the changes to other sections in order to keep them coherent, The downside is we won't
have code to rely on in future instances. But the FAA has pre-empted those discussions as has been
thoroughly documented and discussed.

We will have a Standard Operating Procedure to direct ultralight users toward.

Let me know your thoughts.

VR,

Sec. 6-76. - Regulations governing airport operations.
SHARE LINK TO SECTION<https;//library.municode.com/>PRINT
SECTION<https://library. municode.cony>DOWNLOAD (DOCX) OF
SECTIONS<https:/library.municode.com/>EMAIL SECTION<https:/library.municode.com/>COMPARE
VERSIONS<https:/library.municode.com/>
(a)
FAA rules and regulations governing. All FAA rules and regulations governing the operation of aircraft in
effect as of February 15, 1988, as well as all additions to such rules and regulations, are made a patt of this

... article as fully as if set forth in this article.

(b)

Running of aircraft engines. At no time shall aircraft engines be run up when hangars, shops, airplanes, or
4



Les,

Please see below the suggested code change for third reading on 8/7/23.

Can you review and call me if you need any clarification or elaboration?

Your inputs are requested. The FAA has put a hard deadline of 8/7/23 on allowing the operations.
VR,

[CARLOS]

From: Carlos Salinas

Sent: Monday, March 6, 2023 9:00 AM

To: Ken Roper <kenr(@co.pickens.sc.us<mailto:kenr@co.pickens.sc.ug>>

Cc: Jessica Varney <jessicav@co.pickens. sc.us<mailto:jessicavi@co.pickens.sc.us>>
Subject: RE: Code Re Write

Ken,

I believe you have all that you need to present this to Council. Do you need anything else from me?
VR,

[CARLOS]

From: Ken Roper
Sent: Friday, February 24, 2023 9:04 AM e -

To: Carlos Salinas <csa1inas@co.nickens.sc.us<mai1t0:csali_ﬁdé@-;g.ﬁickegsZSE:.ES;;_
Subject: RE: Code Re Write

1 think its covered
[Email Signature KR]

From: Carlos Salinas

Sent: Friday, February 24, 2023 8:51 AM

To: Ken Roper <kenr@co.pickens.sc.us<mailto:kenr@co.pickens.sc.us>>
Subject: RE: Code Re Write

I like it. Do we want to mention regulations beyond the code to allow for the SOP? Or doesSec 6-73(1) cover
that? '

(DUse of airport or any of its facilities. The use of the airport or any of its facilities in any manner shall create
an obligation on the part of the user to obey all the regulations provided in this article and adopted by the
commission,

 (j)Takeoffs and landings. Unless an emergency situation is present, all takeoffs and landings shall be confined
to the runways. Provided however, talkeofts and landings of ultralight vehicles shall not be subject to this
requirement, and shall instead be governed by any and all regulations as may be promulgated pursuant to the

3



other buildings or persons are in the path of the propeller stream and/or jet exhaust.

(c)

Parking of aircraft. No aircraft shall be parked or stored at the airport except in the areas designed for such use.
(D)

Performance of aircraft; engine repair and maintenance. The performance of aircraft and engine repair and
maintenance is considered to be an acronautical service regulated by the commission except where such
services or repairs are performed by the aircraft owner or his employees. The commission reserves the right to
designate reasonable areas where such aircraft owners may perform services on their own aircraft outside
county-owned hangars.

(e)

Accident. In the event of an accident, the commission, through the airport manager, may, in compliance with
FAA and other governmental regulations, move damaged aircraft from the landing areas, ramps, aprons or
other areas at the expense of the owner and without liability for damage resulting from such moving.

(f)

Report of accident by pilot. The pilot of an aircraft involved in an accident on or near the airport causing
personal injury or property damage shall report to the airport manager and other appropriate authorities. If the
pilot is not able to do so, the owner of the aircraft or his agent shall make such report.

(2)

Payment for damaged or destroyed property. Airport property damaged or destroyed by an accident or
otherwise shall be paid for by the parties responsible.

(h)

Taxiing aircraft. No person shall taxi an aircraft until he has ascertained by visual inspection of the area that
there will be no danger of collision with any person or object in the immediate area.

()

Speed of taxiing aircraft. Aircraft shall be taxied at a safe and reasonable speed with due respect for other
aircraft, persons or property.

()

Takeoffs and landings. Unless an emergency situation is present, all takeoffs and landings shall be confined to

the runways.

(k)

Persons permitted to enter landing area proper, taxi space or aprons. No person, except airmen, duly authorized
personnel, passengers going to or from aircraft, or persons being personally escorted by airport attendants shall
be permitted to enter the landing area proper, taxi space or aprons. This does not, however, give any person so
excepted the privilege of unrestricted use of the airport. These privileges are confined to the necessary use of
these areas in connection with the flights, inspections and routine duties.

(Ord. No. 130, § 5, 2-15-1988)

[CARLOS]



AN ORDINANCE TO PROVIDE FOR THE ISSUANCE AND SALE OF NOT EXCEEDING
TWELVE MILLION SEVEN HUNDRED FIFTY THOUSAND DOLLARS ($12,750,000)
AGGREGATE PRINCIPAL AMOUNT OF GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS OF
PICKENS COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA, TO PRESCRIBE THE PURPOSES FOR WHICH
THE PROCEEDS SHALL BE EXPENDED, TO PROVIDE FOR THE PAYMENT THEREOF,
AND TO PROVIDE FOR OTHER MATTERS RELATED THERETO.

Pickens County, South Carolina

Ordinance No. 626

August 7, 2023



Section 1.01

Section 2.01
Section 2.02

Section 3.01
Section 3.02
Section 3.03
Section 3.04
Section 3.05
Section 3.06
Section 3.07
Section 3.08
Section 3.09
Section 3.10
Section 3.11
Section 3.12
Section 3.13
Section 3.14
Section 3.15
Section 3.16
Section 3.17
Section 3.18
Section 3.19
Section 3.20
Section 3.21

Section 4.01
Section 4.02
Section 4.03

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ARTICLE |
FINDINGS OF FACT
FINAINGS oot 1
ARTICLE II
DEFINITIONS AND CONSTRUCTION
D INIEIONS ...ttt e e e e 3
CONSETUCTION .ottt ettt e et e e e e e e e et e e e e e 7

ARTICLE IlI

THE BONDS
Ordering the Issuance of the BONAS ..........cccccoviiiiiiiniiiiiieiee e 8
Maturity Schedule of the BONdS ...........ccoiiiiiiiiiiiice e 8
Date of Bonds; Interest RAtES ........oooeeviiiiiiiiii 8
Medium of Payment; Bond Payments; Formand ...........ccccccccveevivieeviiveeenen, 8
Agreement to Maintain Registrar and Paying Agent ........ccccccevvveeviieeiinnnnn 9
Execution and Authentication of Bonds ..........cccoovviiiiiiiii i, 9
Exchange 0f BONAS ......c..oveiiiieiiie e 10
Transferability and REQISIIY .......cocoveiiiieiiiie e 10
Transter 0F BONGS ......ccuoiiiiiiieiice e 10
Regulations with Respect to Exchanges and Transfers .............ccccceevevnennne, 10
Mutilated, Destroyed, Lost and Stolen Bonds ..........cccccccveeviieeiie e, 11
Holder as OWNer 0f BONG .......c.coiiiiiiiiiieiie e 11
Cancellation 0f BONAS ........cccviiieiiiiiii i 12
Payments Due Saturdays, Sundays, and Holidays ..........cccccccceeviieeiiinnnne, 12
Conditions Related to Naming Interest Rates ............cccccevvveeviieeniieeiiinnn, 12
Tax Exemption in South Caroling ...........cccocveeviie i 12
SECUNItY FOr BONAS .....vvvieiiiec e 12
Notice to Auditor and Treasurer to LeVY TaX.......cccccovveeviiveeiiieeeciiee e, 13
BOOK-ENtry ONlY SYSEM ...vvvieiiiec e 13
FOIM OF BONUS ... 14
Bond Anticipation NOTES ........cccvveiiiiiiiiee e 14
ARTICLE IV
SALE OF THE BONDS
Sale and Award 0f BONAS .......ccovviiiiiiieiiiec e 18
Manner of PUDIIC Sale ..........coooiiiiii e 18
Authorization to Negotiate Sale in Certain Circumstances .............cc.couv.... 19



Section 5.01

ARTICLE V

CERTAIN DELEGATIONS AND AUTHORIZATIONS

Certain Delegations

ARTICLE VI

APPLICATION OF PROCEEDS; DISBURSEMENT AND FLOW OF FUNDS

Section 6.01

Section 7.01
Section 7.02
Section 7.03
Section 7.04
Section 7.05
Section 7.06
Section 7.07

Section 8.01

Section 9.01
Section 9.02
Section 9.03
Section 9.04
Section 9.05
Section 9.06
Section 9.07
Section 9.08
Section 9.09
Section 9.10
Section 9.11

Deposit and USe OF PrOCEEAS .........coviiiiieiiieiiieiiienie e
ARTICLE VII
REDEMPTION OR PURCHASE OF BONDS

Authorization of Redemption
Election to Redeem
Notice of Redemption
Selection by Registrar of Bonds to be Redeemed
Deposit of Redemption Price
Partial Redemption of Bonds
Purchases of Bonds Outstanding

ARTICLE VIII
DEFEASANCE

DBTRASANCE ..o
ARTICLE IX
CONCERNING THE FIDUCIARIES

Fiduciary; Appointment and Acceptance of Duties
Responsibilities of Fiduciaries
Evidence on Which Fiduciaries May Act
COMPENSALION ....vvieiiee ettt e e e e e e e sbaeeaneaeas
Certain Permitted Acts
Resignation of Any Fiduciary
Removal of Fiduciary
Appointment of Successor Fiduciaries
Transfer of Rights and Property t0 SUCCESSOI .........cceevivveeiiiieeiiiiee e,
Merger or Consolidation
Adoption of Authentication



ARTICLE X
TAX AND DISCLOSURE COVENANTS

Section 10.01  TaX COVENANTS ......eeeeeeeeeeeeee e e e e eee e e e e e e e e e e e e e eeeraneareans
Section 10.02 DiSClOSUIE COVENANES ....cvvveeeeeeeeeeeee e e e e e e e e e e e eaeeens

ARTICLE XI
MISCELLANEOUS

Section 11.01 Failure to Present BoNdS ..........cccovveviieiiiie e
Section 11.02  Professional SEIVICES .........cocvuvviiieeiiiie e
Section 11.03  Filing of Copies of Ordinance ..........cccoooevveeiiieniie e
Section 11.04 Further Action by Officers of the County ..........c.cccooovevivieninnne
Section 11.05 Ordinance to Constitute CONIact ...........cccverivvreviereniiiresiinns
Section 11.06  Savings ClaUSE ...........cooiiiiiiiiiiiieice e
SECHION 11.07  SUCCESSOIS ...vvvveiueieeiiieestieeesieeeasseeeasseeeesseeesssaeeessaneesseeesnsenens
Section 11.08 General Repealer; Effective Date ...........cccceeviveeviveeiiiiee i
Section 11.09 Excess Sinking FUNd MONIES .........cccceeviiiiiiiiiieiieeee e

EXHIBIT A - FORM OF NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING
EXHIBIT B - FORMS OF BONDS

EXHIBIT C — FORM OF SUMMARY NOTICE OF SALE
EXHIBIT D — FORMS OF OFFICIAL NOTICE OF SALE



BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNTY COUNCIL OF PICKENS COUNTY,
SOUTH CAROLINA, AS FOLLOWS:

ARTICLE I
FINDINGS OF FACT

Section 1.01 Findings.

The County Council of Pickens County (the “County Council”), the governing body of
Pickens County, South Carolina (the “County”), hereby finds and determines:

@ The County is a body politic and corporate and a political subdivision of the State
of South Carolina (the “State”) and as such possesses all general powers granted to counties of the
State.

(b) Article X, Section 14 of the Constitution of the State of South Carolina, 1895, as
amended (the “Constitution”), provides that counties may incur general obligation bonded
indebtedness upon such terms and conditions as the General Assembly may prescribe by general
law, subject to the following limitations: (i) such debt must be incurred only for a purpose which
is a public purpose and a corporate purpose for a county, and (ii) unless excepted therefrom, such
debt may be issued in an amount not exceeding eight percent of the assessed value of all taxable
property of such county (the “Debt Limit”).

(c) Pursuant to Title 4, Chapter 15 of the Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976, as
amended (the same being and hereinafter referred to as the “County Bond Act”), the governing
body of any county of the State of South Carolina (the “State”) may issue general obligation bonds
to defray the cost of any authorized purpose and for any amount not exceeding such county’s
applicable Debt Limit.

(d) The County Bond Act provides that as a condition precedent to the issuance of
bonds, an election be held that results favorably thereto. Title 11, Chapter 27 of the South Carolina
Code provides that if an election be prescribed by the provisions of the County Bond Act, but is
not required by the provisions of Article X, Section 14 of the Constitution, then in every such
instance, no election need be held and the remaining provisions of the County Bond Act shall
constitute a full and complete authorization to issue bonds in accordance with such remaining
provisions.

(e) The assessed value of all taxable property in the County for tax year 2022, which is
the latest completed assessment thereof, for the purposes of calculating the Debt Limit, is
$626,622,723. Eight percent of such sum is $50,129,817.



0] As of the date hereof, the outstanding principal amount of general obligation
indebtedness of the County chargeable against the Debt Limit is $20,395,000.1 Accordingly, the
County may incur $29,734,817.80 of general obligation debt within the Debt Limit.

(9) The County has surveyed its transportation needs and finds that significant benefits
to the health, safety, and welfare of its citizens, and the further economic development of the
County would result from certain improvements and expansions to Highway 183 in the County.

(h) On the basis of the foregoing, the County Council has determined it is in the best
interest of the County to authorize and provide for the issuance and sale of not exceeding
$12,750,000 of general obligation bonds (the “Bonds”) for the purpose of defraying (i) the costs
of the acquisition, design, improvement, and construction of the Highway 183 expansion project
(the “Project”), and (ii) the costs of issuance of such general obligation bonds.

(1 Pursuant to the provisions of Section 4-9-130 of the South Carolina Code, a public
hearing, after giving notice in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit A, was conducted
prior to the third and final reading of this Ordinance by the County Council.

* * *

! The only general obligation indebtedness chargeable against the County’s Debt Limit is its $25,000,000 original
principal amount General Obligation Improvement Bonds, Series 2017B, currently outstanding in the amount of
$20,395,000.



ARTICLE II
DEFINITIONS AND CONSTRUCTION

Section 2.01 Definitions.

As used in this Ordinance, unless context otherwise requires, the following terms shall
have the following respective meanings.

“Authorized Investments” means and includes any securities which, at the time of
determination, are legal investments for political subdivisions in the State as provided in the South
Carolina Code.

“Authorized Officer” means the Chairman, the County Administrator, the Finance
Director, and any other officer or employee of the County designated from time to time by the
County by resolution or ordinance of County Council; any of whom may act individually as the
Authorized Officer or on behalf of the Authorized Officers.

“BAN” means any of the bond anticipation notes issued hereunder and pursuant to the BAN
Act.

“BAN Act” means Title 11, Chapter 17 of the South Carolina Code.

“Bond” or “Bonds” has the meaning given to such term in Section 1.01, which includes any
of the Bonds of the County authorized by this Ordinance, and, where context dictates, Bonds of a
Series issued hereunder.

“Bond Counsel” means Pope Flynn, LLC, or any successor firm, or an attorney or firm of
attorneys of recognized standing in the field of law relating to municipal, state and public agency
financing.

“Bondholder”; “Holder”; “Holders of Bonds”; “Owner”; “Registered Owner” or similar
term means, when used with respect to Bonds or a Bond, any person who shall be registered as the
owner of any Bonds Outstanding.

“Bond Payment” means the periodic payment of Principal Installments of or interest on the
Bonds, or both.

“Bond Payment Date” means, as for any Series of Bonds issued hereunder, the date or dates
when a Bond Payment is payable.

“Chairman” means the Chairman of County Council, or in his absence or unavailability,
the Vice Chairman of County Council.

“Clerk to County Council” means the Clerk to the County Council.



“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and the U.S. Treasury
Regulations promulgated thereunder.

“Continuing Disclosure Undertaking” means an undertaking executed by an Authorized
Officer and delivered at or prior to the closing of a Series of Bonds that is intended to meet the
requirements of Rule 15¢2-12, and as such undertaking may be from time to time amended in
accordance with the terms thereof.

“Corporate Trust Office” when used with respect to any Paying Agent or Registrar, means
the office at which its principal corporate trust business shall be administered. In the event the
County Treasurer serves as Paying Agent and Registrar, applicable references to the Corporate Trust
Office shall mean the offices of the County Treasurer.

“County” means Pickens County, South Carolina.

“County Administrator” means the County Administrator of the County (including any
interim County Administrator), or in his absence or unavailability, a Deputy County Administrator
of the County.

“County Auditor” means the person holding the office of County Auditor of the County, and
any person authorized to act on behalf of such office.

“County Bond Act” has the meaning given such term in Section 1.01 hereof.
“County Council” means the County Council of the County.

“County Treasurer” means the person holding the office of Treasurer of the County, and
any person authorized to act on behalf of such office.

“Direct Placement Purchaser” means a Purchaser of a Series of Bonds pursuant to Section
4.02(1) hereof.

“DTC” means The Depository Trust Company, New York, New York.

“Enabling Act” means Article X, Section 14 of the Constitution of the State of South
Carolina, 1895, as amended; the County Bond Act; and Title 11, Chapter 27 of the South Carolina
Code.

“Escrow Agent” means a financial institution appointed by an Authorized Officer of the
County to hold funds for the purpose of defeasing all or a portion of the Bonds in accordance with
Article VIII of this Ordinance.

“Fiduciary” means any financial institution appointed by the County to serve as Paying
Agent or Registrar, and its successors and assigns.

“Finance Director” means the Finance Director of the County.



“Financial Advisor” has the meaning given such term in Section 11.02 hereof.

“Government Obligations” means (i) direct obligations of the United States of America
for the payment of which the full faith and credit of the United States of America are pledged; (ii)
obligations, the payment of the principal (if any), or the interest (if any) on which is fully
guaranteed as a full faith and credit obligation of the United States of America; (iii) non-callable,
U.S. Treasury Securities — State and Local Government Series Securities; and (iv) AAA-rated
general obligation bonds (based upon a rating issued by at least one nationally recognized credit
rating organization) of the State, its institutions, agencies, school districts and political
subdivisions.

“Governmental Unit” means a state or local governmental unit within the meaning of
Section 141(b) of the Code.

“Nongovernmental Person” means any Person other than a Governmental Unit.
“Official Notice of Sale” has the meaning given such term in Article IV hereof.
“Original Issue Date” shall mean the date of delivery of the applicable Series of Bonds.

“Other Indicia of Satisfaction” means the delivery of a certificate to the Paying Agent by
a Sole Holder in connection with a final payment of all Outstanding Principal Installments of a
Series of Bonds certifying that (i) such payment represents the final payment due on such Series
of Bonds, and (ii) the County owes no further obligation to the Registered Owner respecting such
Series of Bonds. Such certificate may also make provision for the Sole Holder to indemnify the
County in connection with the failure to surrender such Bonds.

“Outstanding” when used in this Ordinance, with respect to the Bonds, means as of any date,
all Bonds theretofore authenticated and delivered pursuant to this Ordinance except:

Q) any Bond cancelled or delivered to the Registrar for cancellation on or before such
date;

(2 any Bond (or any portion thereof) deemed to have been paid in accordance with the
provisions of Section 8.01 hereof; and

3 any Bond in lieu of or in exchange for which another Bond shall have been
authenticated and delivered pursuant to Article 111 hereof.

“Paying Agent” means any bank, trust company or national banking association which is
authorized to pay the Principal Installments of or interest on any Series of Bonds and has the duties,
responsibilities and rights provided for in this Ordinance, and its successor or successors and any
other corporation or association which at any time may be substituted in its place pursuant to this
Ordinance. The entity named as Paying Agent may also act as Registrar. Notwithstanding the above



definition of Paying Agent, if a Series of Bonds is not delivered in book-entry form, the County
Treasurer may be the Paying Agent for such Bonds.

“Person” means an individual, a partnership, a corporation, a trust, a trustee, an
unincorporated organization, or a government or an agency or political subdivision thereof.

“Principal Installment” means, as of any date of calculation, the principal amount of all
Bonds due on a specified date.

“Project” has the meaning given such term in Section 1.01 hereof.
“Purchaser” means a purchaser of the applicable Series of Bonds.

“Record Date” means the fifteenth day of the month immediately preceding a month in
which there is a Bond Payment Date.

“Redemption Price” when used with respect to a Bond or portion thereof to be redeemed,
means the principal amount of such Bonds or such portion thereof plus the applicable premium, if
any, and accrued interest, as applicable, payable upon redemption thereof pursuant to this Ordinance.

“Registrar” means any bank, trust company, or national banking association which is
authorized to maintain an accurate list of those who, from time to time, shall be the Holders of the
Bonds and shall effect the exchange and transfer of Bonds in accordance with the provisions of this
Ordinance and having the duties, responsibilities, and rights provided for in this Ordinance and its
successor or successors and any other corporation or association which at any time may be
substituted in its place pursuant to this Ordinance. The institution named as Registrar may also act
as Paying Agent. Notwithstanding the above definition of Registrar, if the Bonds are not delivered
in book-entry form, the Registrar may be the County, acting through the County Treasurer, as
determined by an Authorized Officer.

“Registry Books” means the books of the County to be kept at the Corporate Trust Office
of the Registrar for the registration and transfer of the Bonds.

“Rule 15c2-12” means Rule 15c2-12 of the United States Securities and Exchange
Commission under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

“Securities Depository” means, initially, The Depository Trust Company, New York, New
York, or any other recognized securities depository selected by the County, which securities
depository maintains a book-entry system in respect of the Bonds, and shall include any substitute
for or successor to the securities depository initially acting as Securities Depository.

“Securities Depository Nominee” means, as to any Securities Depository, such Securities
Depository or the nominee of such Securities Depository in whose name there shall be registered
on the registration books maintained by the Registrar the Bond certificates to be delivered to and
immobilized at such Securities Depository during the continuation with such Securities Depository
of participation in its book-entry system. If DTC is the initial Securities Depository, Cede & Co.



shall serve as the initial Securities Depository Nominee hereunder. In all other cases, the Securities
Depository Nominee shall be the entity designated as such under the rules of the Securities
Depository.

“Series” or “Series of Bonds” means Bonds issued hereunder as a single issue; i.e., sold and
closed on the same dates with a common bond caption and Series designation.

“Sole Holder” means the Holder of a Series of Bonds when such Bonds shall be physically
delivered as a single Bond to a single Holder purchasing an entire Series of Bonds.

“South Carolina Code” means the Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976, as amended.
“State” means the State of South Carolina.
“Summary Notice of Sale” shall have the meaning given such term in Article IV hereof.

“Taxable Bonds” means any Bonds that have been designated as taxable under the Code by
an Authorized Officer pursuant to Article V of this Ordinance.

Section 2.02 Construction.

In this Ordinance, unless context otherwise requires:

1) Articles and Sections referred to by number shall mean the corresponding Articles
and Sections of this Ordinance.

(2 The terms “hereby,” “hereof,” “hereto,” “herein,” “hereunder,” and any similar terms
refer to this Ordinance, and the term “hereafter” shall mean after, and the term
“heretofore” shall mean before the date of enactment of this Ordinance.

3) Words of the masculine gender shall mean and include correlative words of the
female and neuter genders, and words importing the singular number shall mean and
include the plural number and vice versa.

(4) Any Fiduciary shall be deemed to hold an Authorized Investment in which money is
invested pursuant to the provisions of this Ordinance, even though such Authorized
Investment is evidenced only by a book entry or similar record of investment.

(5) Exhibits to this Ordinance constitute an integral part of this Ordinance.

(6) Three asterisks mark the end of each Article.

* * *



ARTICLE Il
THE BONDS

Section 3.01 Ordering the Issuance of the Bonds.

Pursuant to the provisions of the Enabling Act, the Authorized Officers are hereby ordered
and directed to cause the issuance of the Bonds in order to: (i) defray the costs of the Project; and
(ii) pay the costs of issuance thereof. The Bonds may be issued in a single Series, or from time to
time in multiple Series as determined by an Authorized Officer. The Bonds may, in addition to the
title “Pickens County, South Carolina, General Obligation Bond[s],” bear a numerical or
alphanumeric Series designation as may be necessary to distinguish them from the Bonds of every
other Series, or other general obligation bonds of the County, and shall designate the year in which
the Series is issued, all as determined by an Authorized Officer. Any Series of Bonds issued as
Taxable Bonds shall bear an appropriate designation so as to distinguish its tax status.

Section 3.02 Maturity Schedule of the Bonds.

Each Series of Bonds shall mature on the dates and in the principal amounts as determined
by an Authorized Officer, upon advice of the Financial Advisor and Bond Counsel, provided that
the first maturing principal of a Series of Bonds shall mature not later than five years from the date
of issue thereof and the aggregate principal amount of the Bonds issued hereunder shall not exceed
$12,750,000. No Bonds shall mature more than 30 years from their date of delivery.

Section 3.03 Date of Bonds; Interest Rates.

Bonds shall be authenticated on such dates as they shall, in each case, be delivered. Bonds
shall bear interest, at the rates per annum determined in accordance with Section 3.15 hereof (on the
basis of a 360-day year of twelve 30-day months), from the Bond Payment Date to which interest
has been paid next preceding the authentication date thereof, unless the authentication date is a Bond
Payment Date, in which case from such authentication date, or if authenticated prior to the initial
Bond Payment Date for Bonds of that Series, then from the Original I1ssue Date of that Series.

Section 3.04 Medium of Payment; Bond Payments, Form and Denomination.

@ The Principal Installments of, Redemption Price, if any, and interest on all Bonds
shall be payable in any coin or currency of the United States of America which at the time of payment
is legal tender for the payment of public and private debts.

(b) Payment of the Principal Installment or Redemption Price of Bonds shall be payable
at the Corporate Trust Office of the Paying Agent upon presentation and surrender for cancellation
of such Bonds on or after the maturity date or earlier redemption date, except as set forth at Section
3.04(d) below. Payment of interest on Bonds shall be made by check or draft mailed from the
Corporate Trust Office of the Paying Agent to the Person in whose name the Bonds are registered at
the close of business on the Record Date; provided, however, that any Registered Owner of Bonds
in the aggregate principal amount of $1,000,000 or more may request, in writing at least 20 days
prior to the applicable Record Date delivered to the Paying Agent, that Bond Payments be made by

8



wire transfer to such Registered Owner at an account maintained by a financial institution located in
the continental United States which bank is a member of the Federal Reserve System as specified in
such request.

(© The Bonds shall be issued in fully registered form. The Bond shall be issued in
denominations of $1,000 or any whole multiple thereof, not exceeding the principal amount of the
Bonds maturing in such year, except as set forth below. Each Series of Bonds shall be numbered
from R-1 upwards in such fashion as to maintain a proper record thereof.

(d) Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Section 3.04, in the event that a Sole
Holder is the Registered Owner of a Series of Bonds, the denomination of such Series of Bonds may
be the principal amount of such Series, and presentment of such Series of Bonds for payment shall
not be required, except for the payment of the final Principal Installment of such Series of Bonds,
unless otherwise mutually agreed by the County and the Registered Owner of such Series of Bonds,
and upon the delivery of Other Indicia of Satisfaction or similar by the Registered Owner. At the
option of the Sole Holder, and upon agreement by the Paying Agent, Bond Payments may be made
by wire transfer to such Sole Holder at an account maintained by a financial institution located in
the continental United States specified in a request made not less than 20 days prior to the
applicable Record Date, or such shorter period as may be acceptable to the Paying Agent.

Section 3.05 Agreement to Maintain Registrar and Paying Agent.

@) As long as any of the Bonds remain Outstanding there shall be a Registrar and a
Paying Agent which shall, subject to Section 3.05(b), be a financial institution maintaining Corporate
Trust Offices where: (i) Bonds may be presented for registration of transfers and exchanges, (ii)
notices and demands to or upon the County in respect of the Bonds may be served, and (iii) the
Bonds may be presented for payment, exchange and transfer. A financial institution so designated
by an Authorized Officer may act as both Registrar and Paying Agent. The single institution so
chosen shall exercise both the functions of the Registrar and the Paying Agent.

(b) If any Series of Bonds is not issued in book-entry form, the County acting through
the County Treasurer may serve as the Registrar and Paying Agent for such Series of Bonds and
may fulfill all functions of the Registrar and Paying Agent enumerated herein. The County acting
through the County Treasurer may also serve as Registrar and Paying Agent should the Bonds
initially be held in a book-entry system and such system is subsequently discontinued.

Section 3.06 Execution and Authentication of Bonds.

@) The Bonds shall be executed in the name of and on behalf of the County by the
manual or facsimile signature of the Chairman or the County Administrator, attested by the manual
or facsimile signature of the Clerk to County Council, with the seal of the County impressed,
imprinted, or reproduced thereon. Bonds bearing the signature of any Person who shall have been
an Authorized Officer at the time the Bonds were so executed shall bind the County
notwithstanding the fact that he may have ceased to be such Chairman, County Administrator or
Clerk to County Council prior to the authentication and delivery of the Bonds or was not such



Chairman, County Administrator or Clerk to County Council at the date of authentication and
delivery of the Bonds.

(b) No Bond shall be valid or become obligatory for any purpose unless there shall
have been endorsed thereon a certificate of authentication. Each Bond shall bear a certificate of
authentication manually executed by the Registrar in substantially the form set forth in the
applicable form of the Bond attached hereto as Exhibit B.

Section 3.07 Exchange of Bonds.

Each Bond, upon surrender thereof at the Corporate Trust Office of the Registrar along with
a written instrument of transfer satisfactory to the Registrar duly executed by the Registered Owner
or his duly authorized attorney, may, at the option of the Registered Owner thereof, be exchanged
for a new Bond of the same Series, interest rate and maturity. So long as such Bond remains
Outstanding, the County shall make all necessary provisions to permit the exchange of the Bond at
the Corporate Trust Office of the Registrar. Such new Bonds shall reflect the principal amount
thereof as then yet unpaid.

Section 3.08 Transferability and Reqistry.

Each Bond shall at all times, when the same is Outstanding, be payable to a Person, and
shall be transferable only in accordance with the provisions for registration and transfer contained
in this Ordinance and in such Bond. So long as such Bond remains Outstanding, the Registrar shall
maintain and keep the Registry Books, and, upon presentation thereof for such purpose at such
Corporate Trust Office, the County shall register or cause to be registered therein, and permit to
be transferred thereon, under such reasonable regulations as it may prescribe, such Bond. So long
as the Bonds remain Outstanding, the County shall make all necessary provisions to permit the
transfer of such Bonds at the Corporate Trust Office of the Registrar.

Section 3.09 Transfer of Bonds.

The Bonds shall be transferable only upon the Registry Books, which shall be kept for such
purpose at the Corporate Trust Office of the Registrar and maintained for such purpose by the
Registrar, upon presentation and surrender thereof by the Registered Owner of the Bond in person
or by his attorney duly authorized in writing, together with a written instrument of transfer
satisfactory to the Registrar duly executed by the Registered Owner or his duly authorized attorney.
Upon surrender for transfer of Bonds, the County shall execute, authenticate, and deliver, in the
name of the Person who is the transferee, a new Bond of the same principal amount and maturity
and rate of interest as the surrendered Bond. Such new Bond shall reflect the principal amount thereof
as then yet unpaid.

Section 3.10 Requlations with Respect to Exchanges and Transfers.

Bonds, if surrendered in any exchange or transfer, shall forthwith be cancelled by the
Registrar. For each such transfer of the Bonds, the Registrar may make a charge sufficient to
reimburse it for any tax, fee or other governmental charge required to be paid with respect to such

10



transfer, which sum or sums shall be paid by the Registered Owner requesting such transfer as a
condition precedent to the exercise of the privilege of making such transfer. The County shall not
be obligated to issue or transfer the Bonds (i) during the period between a Record Date and the next
following Bond Payment Date, or (ii) following a call for redemption of Bonds.

Section 3.11 Mutilated, Destroyed, Lost and Stolen Bonds.

@ If a Bond is mutilated and thereafter surrendered to the County or if the County
receives evidence to its satisfaction of the destruction, loss or theft of a Bond and there is delivered
to the County such security or indemnity as may be required by it to save it harmless, then, in the
absence of notice that the Bond has been acquired by a bona fide purchaser, the County shall execute,
and the Registrar shall authenticate and deliver, in exchange for the mutilated Bond or in lieu of any
such destroyed, lost, or stolen Bond, a new Bond of like tenor and principal amount, bearing a
number unlike that of the mutilated, lost, or stolen Bond, and shall thereupon cancel any such
mutilated Bond so surrendered. In case any such mutilated, destroyed, lost, or stolen Bond. The
Registrar shall thereupon cancel the mutilated Bond so surrendered. In case the mutilated, destroyed,
lost or stolen Bond has become or is to become due and payable within one month, the County in its
discretion may, instead of issuing a new Bond, pay the Bond.

(b) Upon the issuance of any new Bond under this Section 3.11, the County may require
the payment of a sum sufficient to cover any tax, fee, or other governmental charge that may be
imposed in relation thereto and any other expenses, including counsel fees or other fees, of the
County connected therewith.

(© Each new Bond issued pursuant to this Section 3.11 in lieu of any destroyed, lost, or
stolen Bond shall constitute an additional contractual obligation of the County, whether or not the
destroyed, lost, or stolen Bond shall at any time be enforceable by anyone, and shall be entitled to
all the benefits hereof. Each Bond shall be held and owned upon the express condition that the
foregoing provisions are exclusive with respect to the replacement or payment of a mutilated,
destroyed, lost, or stolen Bond and shall preclude (to the extent lawful) all other rights or remedies
with respect to the replacement or payment of the mutilated, destroyed, lost, or stolen Bond or
securities.

All expenses necessary for the providing of any duplicate Bond shall be borne by the
applicant therefor.

Section 3.12 Holder as Owner of Bond.

The County, the Registrar and the Paying Agent may treat the Registered Owner of any Bond
as the absolute owner thereof, whether such Bond shall be overdue or not, for the purpose of
receiving payment of, or on account of, the Principal Installment of and interest on the Bonds and
for all other purposes, and payment of the Principal Installment and interest shall be made only to,
or upon the order of, such Registered Owner. All payments to such Registered Owner shall be valid
and effectual to satisfy and discharge the liability upon such Bond to the extent of the sum or sums
so paid, and the County shall not be affected by any notice to the contrary.

11



Section 3.13 Cancellation of Bonds.

The Registrar shall destroy Bonds upon surrender of the same to it for cancellation and
shall deliver a certificate to that effect to the County. No such Bonds shall be deemed Outstanding
under this Ordinance and no Bonds shall be issued in lieu thereof.

Section 3.14 Payments Due Saturdays, Sundays, and Holidays.

In any case where the Bond Payment Date or redemption shall be a Saturday or Sunday or
shall be, at the place designated for payment, a legal holiday or a day on which banking institutions
are authorized by law to close, then payment of interest on or Principal Installment or Redemption
Price of the Bonds need not be made on such date but shall be made on the next succeeding business
day not a Saturday, Sunday or a legal holiday or a day upon which banking institutions are authorized
by law to close, with the same force and effect as if made on the Bond Payment Date or redemption
date, and no interest shall accrue for the period from such Bond Payment Date or redemption date to
the date on which payment of the Principal Installment, interest, or Redemption Price, if any, is
made.

Section 3.15 Conditions Related to Naming Interest Rates.

Bonds shall bear such rate or rates of interest as shall result from the sale procedures of
Article 1V, but:

@ all Bonds of the same maturity and Series shall bear the same rate of interest;
2 no rate of interest shall exceed 6.0%;
3 a 0.0% rate is not permitted;

4 each interest rate named shall be a multiple of 1/1000th of one percentage point;
and

5) any premium offered shall be paid in cash as part of the purchase price.
In addition to the foregoing, an Authorized Officer is authorized to impose additional conditions for
the sale of Bonds not inconsistent with those set forth above prior to the sale of Bonds and set forth

in the Official Notice of Sale, and any amendment thereto.

Section 3.16 Tax Exemption in South Carolina.

Both the Principal Installments of and interest on the Bonds shall be exempt from all State,
county, municipal, school district, and all other taxes or assessments of the State of South Carolina,
direct or indirect, general, or special, whether imposed for the purpose of general revenue or
otherwise, except inheritance, estate, transfer, or certain franchise taxes.

Section 3.17 Security for Bonds.

12



The full faith, credit, and taxing power of the County is hereby irrevocably pledged for the
payment of the Bonds as the Principal Installments thereof mature and as interest thereon comes
due, and to create such sinking fund as may be necessary therefor. There shall be levied annually
by the County Auditor and collected by the County Treasurer in the same manner as other county
taxes are levied and collected, a tax, without limit, on all taxable property in the County sufficient
to pay the Principal Installments of and interest on the Bonds as the same matures and come due,
respectively, and to create such sinking fund as may be necessary therefor.

Section 3.18 Notice to Auditor and Treasurer to Levy Tax..

The County Auditor and the County Treasurer shall each be notified of the issuance of any
Series of Bonds, and directed to levy and collect, upon all taxable property in the County an annual
tax sufficient to meet the payment of the Principal Installment and interest on said Bonds, as the
same respectively mature, and to create such sinking fund as may be necessary therefor. Such levy
may be reduced to the extent that, at the time that the annual millage levy for the County is set, the
County shall have funds on deposit in the sinking fund to pay Principal Installments of and interest
on the Bonds for each such payment thereof coming due and payable from such tax levy.

Section 3.19 Book-Entry Only System.

@ An Authorized Officer may elect to issue a Series of Bonds under a book-entry-
only system under Article V hereof. In the event of such election, notwithstanding any provision
of this Ordinance to the contrary, the provisions of this Section 3.19 shall apply to such Series of
Bonds. Such Bonds will be initially issued under a book-entry-only system in fully registered form,
registered in the name of Cede & Co. as the Registered Owner and Securities Depository Nominee
of DTC, which will act as initial Securities Depository for the Bonds. So long as a Series of Bonds
is being held under a book-entry system of a Securities Depository, transfers of beneficial
ownership of such Bonds will be effected pursuant to rules and procedures established by such
Securities Depository.

(b) As long as a book-entry system is in effect for a Series of Bonds, the Securities
Depository Nominee will be recognized as the Registered Owner of such Bonds for the purposes
of: (i) paying the Principal Installments of, interest on, and Redemption Price, if any, of such
Bonds, (ii) selecting the portions of such Bonds to be redeemed, if Bonds are to be redeemed in
part, (iii) giving any notice permitted or required to be given to Registered Owners under this
Ordinance, (iv) registering the transfer of Bonds, and (V) requesting any consent or other action to
be taken by the Registered Owners of such Bonds, and for all other purposes whatsoever, and the
County shall not be affected by any notice to the contrary.

(c) The County shall not have any responsibility or obligation to any participant, any
beneficial owner or any other person claiming a beneficial ownership in any Bonds which are
registered to a Securities Depository Nominee under or through the Securities Depository with
respect to any action taken by the Securities Depository as Registered Owner of such Bonds.

13



(d) The Paying Agent shall pay all Principal Installments of, interest on, and
Redemption Price, if any, of Bonds issued under a book-entry system, only to the Securities
Depository or the Securities Depository Nominee, as the case may be, for such Bonds, and all such
payments shall be valid and effectual to fully satisfy and discharge the obligations with respect to
the Principal Installments of, interest on, and Redemption Price, if any, of such Bonds.

(e) In the event that the County determines that it is in the best interest of the County
to discontinue the book-entry system of transfer for a Series of Bonds, or that the interests of the
beneficial owners of such Bonds may be adversely affected if the book-entry system is continued,
then the County shall notify the Securities Depository of such determination. In such event, the
Registrar shall authenticate, register, and deliver physical certificates for such Bonds in exchange
for the Bonds registered in the name of the Securities Depository Nominee.

U] In the event that the Securities Depository for Bonds discontinues providing its
services, the County shall either engage the services of another Securities Depository or arrange
with a Registrar for the delivery of physical certificates in the manner described in subparagraph
(e) above.

(9) In connection with any notice or other communication to be provided to the
Registered Owners of Bonds by the County or by the Registrar with respect to any consent or other
action to be taken by the Registered Owners of Bonds, the County or the Registrar, as the case
may be, shall establish a record date for such consent or other action and give the Securities
Depository Nominee notice of such record date not less than 15 days in advance of such record
date to the extent possible.

(h) At the closing of any Series of Bonds and the delivery of the same to the Purchaser
thereof through the facilities of DTC, the Registrar may maintain custody of Bond certificates on
behalf of DTC in accordance with DTC’s “FAST” closing procedures.

Section 3.20 Form of Bonds.

The Bonds shall be in a form substantially similar to that attached hereto as Exhibit B, with
such revisions as an Authorized Officer may approve upon advice of Bond Counsel. As
contemplated in Exhibit B, the form of a Series of Bonds shall reflect the respective manner of
sale under Section 4.02 hereof. The execution of the Bonds in accordance with this Ordinance shall
constitute conclusive evidence of approval of any and all revisions.

Section 3.21 Bond Anticipation Notes.

@) Pursuant to the BAN Act, there may be issued from time to time at the discretion
of an Authorized Officer BANs in anticipation of the issuance of Bonds or to refund or renew
BANSs, as set forth in this Section 3.21.

(b) If BANs are issued and if, upon the maturity thereof an Authorized Officer should

determine that it would be in the best interest of the County to renew or refund the BANSs, he or
she is authorized to renew or refund the BANs from time to time until an Authorized Officer

14



determines to issue the Bonds on the basis as aforesaid, and the Bonds are issued. The aggregate
stated principal amount of all BANs outstanding from time to time shall not exceed $12,750,000.

() BANSs shall be dated and bear interest from the date of delivery thereof, payable
upon the stated maturity thereof and shall mature on such dates as determined by an Authorized
Officer, provided that no BAN shall mature on a date which is later than one year following the
issuance thereof. Interest on the BANSs shall be calculated on the basis of a 360-day year of twelve
30-day months. BANs may be issued as draw-down obligations, in which event interest shall
accrue and be payable thereon based on the dates of and principal amounts advanced.

(d) BANSs shall be payable, both as to principal and interest, in legal tender upon
maturity, at the principal office of the Paying Agent. The BANs may be issued in denominations
of $1,000 and integral multiples thereof. The BANSs shall be executed in the name and on behalf
of the County by the manual or facsimile signature of the Chairman or Vice Chairman with the
seal of the County (or a facsimile thereof) impressed, imprinted or otherwise reproduced thereon
and attested by the manual or facsimile signature of the Clerk. BANs bearing the manual or
facsimile signature of any Person who shall have been such an Authorized Officer at the time
such BANs were so executed shall bind the County notwithstanding the fact that he may have
ceased to be such Authorized Officer prior to the authentication and delivery of such BANs or
was not such Authorized Officer at the date of the authentication and delivery of the BANS.

(e) An Authorized Officer may appoint either (i) a financial institution maintaining
corporate trust offices, or (ii) the County Treasurer to serve as Registrar and Paying Agent for the
BANS.

U] County Council hereby authorizes an Authorized Officer to cause to be prepared
and to “deem final” within the meaning of Rule 15¢2-12 of the United States Securities and
Exchange Commission a preliminary official statement relating to the BANs and to cause to be
prepared and to approve a final official statement following the sale of the BANs. The County
Council hereby authorizes the use of said preliminary official statement and final official
statement and the information contained therein in connection with the public offering and sale
of the BANSs. If the BANSs are offered and sold to a financial institution to be held for its own
account, an Authorized Officer will not be required to (i) prepare a preliminary official statement
or final official statement if such purchaser executes and delivers an investment letter in form and
content acceptable to the State Treasurer, or (ii) undertake any obligation to deliver a Continuing
Disclosure Undertaking.

(9) BANs may be sold at public or private sale. If at public sale, bids therefor shall be
received until such time and date to be selected by an Authorized Officer; notice of sale of the
BANSs shall be given in a manner determined by an Authorized Officer; award shall be made by
an Authorized Officer of the BANs to the bidder offering the lowest interest cost therefor, the
method of calculation of which shall be set forth in the notice of sale and determined at an
Authorized Officer’s discretion, without further action on the part of the Commission if an
Authorized Officer shall determine that it is in the interest of the County to make such award. If
at private sale, an Authorized Officer shall sell the BANs by negotiation with the Purchaser under
such terms as such Authorized Officer finds achieve the objectives of the County.

15



() BANSs shall be issued in such form and with such terms and conditions, not
inconsistent with this Ordinance, as shall be determined by an Authorized Officer. No BAN shall
be valid or obligatory for any purpose or shall be entitled to any right or benefit hereunder unless
there shall be endorsed on such BAN a certificate of authentication duly executed by the manual
signature of the Registrar and such certificate of authentication upon any BAN executed on behalf
of the County shall be conclusive evidence that the BAN so authenticated has been duly issued
hereunder and that the registered owner thereof is entitled to the benefit of the terms and
provisions of the Ordinance.

(1 In the event any BAN is mutilated, lost, stolen or destroyed, the County may
execute a new BAN of like date and denomination as that mutilated, lost, stolen or destroyed;
provided that, in the case of any mutilated BAN, such mutilated BAN shall first be surrendered
to the County or to its designated agent, and in the case of any lost, stolen or destroyed BAN,
there shall be first furnished to the County or its agent evidence of such loss, theft or destruction
satisfactory to the County or its agent, together with indemnity satisfactory to it; provided that,
in the case of a registered owner which is a bank or insurance company, the agreement of such
bank or insurance company to indemnify shall be sufficient. In the event any such BAN shall
have matured, instead of issuing a duplicate BAN, the County may pay the same without
surrender thereof. The County or its agent may charge the registered owner of such BAN with its
reasonable fees and expenses in this connection.

() The BANS shall be issued in fully registered form either (i) under a book-entry
only system, registered in the name of Cede & Co. as the registered owner and securities
depository nominee of DTC, or (ii) in physical form registered in the name of the registered
owner, as specified by an Authorized Officer. Conditions as to ownership, exchange, transfer,
replacement, and payment of BANSs shall be as provided for Bonds herein, except as expressly
provided in this Ordinance to the contrary. The BANs may, at the discretion of an Authorized
Officer, be subject to redemption prior to their stated maturity, on such terms and conditions as
an Authorized Officer may prescribe, except that the maximum premium to be paid for prior
redemption shall not exceed one half of one per centum (1/2%).

(K) For the payment of the principal of and interest on the BANs as the same shall fall
due, the full faith, credit, and taxing power of the County shall be pledged. In addition thereto, so
much of the principal proceeds of the Bonds when issued shall and is hereby directed to be
applied, to the extent necessary, to the payment of the BANs; and, further, the County covenants
and irrevocably pledges to effect the issuance of the Bonds or, in the alternative, to refund or
renew outstanding BANs in order that the proceeds thereof will be sufficient to provide for the
retirement of any BANS issued pursuant hereto.

() Proceeds from the sale of the BANSs shall be applied in the manner as provided by
Section 6.01 herein for Bonds.

(m)  Both the principal of and interest on the BANs shall be exempt from all State,

county, municipal, school district, and all other taxes or assessments imposed within the State,
direct or indirect, general or special, whether imposed for the purpose of general revenue or

16



otherwise, except estate or other transfer taxes, and certain fees or franchise taxes.
(n)  The form of the BAN shall be approved by an Authorized Officer.

(o)  Without limiting the generality or specifics of any other provision in this
Ordinance, the term “Bonds” as used in Articles VIII, IX, X, and XI shall include BANSs.

* * *

17



ARTICLE IV
SALE OF THE BONDS

Section 4.01 Sale and Award of Bonds.

@ Each Series of Bonds shall be sold at a date and time certain after public notice
thereof at not less than par and accrued interest to the date of delivery. Bids shall be received at
such time and date and in such manner as determined by an Authorized Officer. Bids may be
received in electronic form only, physical form only, or in such other form or combination of forms
as may be determined by an Authorized Officer and set forth in the Official Notice of Sale. The
Authorized Officer may reserve the right, on behalf of the County, to waive any irregularities and
to negotiate with the lowest responsive bidder. Unless all bids are rejected, the award of Bonds
may be made by an Authorized Officer to the bidder offering the most advantageous terms to the
County, taking into account the interest cost (calculated on a true-interest-cost basis (TIC)) to the
County and any terms or conditions specific to each bid, with the basis of such award to be set
forth in the official notice of sale used in connection with the sale of such Bonds (the “Official
Notice of Sale”), the applicable forms of which are attached hereto as Exhibit D.

(b) In lieu of publishing the Official Notice of Sale in its entirety to notice the sale, an
Authorized Officer may elect to publish an abbreviated form of such notice (the “Summary Notice
of Sale”), the form of which is attached hereto as Exhibit C, and thereafter provide the applicable
Official Notice of Sale to those parties who request the same pursuant to the instructions provided
in the Summary Notice of Sale. The forms of the Summary Notice of Sale and the Official Notice
of Sale may be adjusted or amended by an Authorized Officer upon advice of Bond Counsel or
the Financial Advisor prior to the sale of the Bonds, consistent with the terms of this Ordinance.

Section 4.02 Manner of Public Sale.

Not less than seven days following the publication of either the Official Notice of Sale or
Summary Notice of Sale in a newspaper of general circulation in the State, and/or, if deemed
appropriate by an Authorized Officer, in a financial publication published in the City of New York,
New York, any Series of the Bonds may be sold pursuant to either of the following methods as
determined by an Authorized Officer:

Q) Competitive Direct Placement. Any Series of Bonds may be sold to a Direct
Placement Purchaser as a single instrument as a means of making a commercial loan.
In such case, the County Council authorizes the Authorized Officer to distribute the
Official Notice of Sale to prospective purchasers of the Bonds and award the Bonds
to the Direct Placement Purchaser on the basis of the terms and conditions contained
therein. Such Bonds may be issued as a single Bond or multiple Bonds, without
CUSIP identification (unless otherwise agreed by the Direct Placement Purchaser
and an Authorized Officer on behalf of the County), shall not be issued in book-entry-
only form, and no official statement shall be prepared in connection with the sale of
such Bond. The Direct Placement Purchaser of any such Series of Bonds shall
execute an investor letter to the County acknowledging its purchase of such Bond or
Bonds as a means of making a commercial loan.

18



)

Competitive Public Offering. Any Series of Bonds may be sold in the public capital
markets to an underwriter for the purpose of reselling such Bonds. In such case, the
County Council hereby authorizes an Authorized Officer to prepare, or cause to be
prepared, a preliminary official statement and distribute the preliminary official
statement and the Official Notice of Sale to prospective purchasers of the Bonds.
The County Council authorizes an Authorized Officer to designate the preliminary
official statement as “final” for purposes of Rule 15¢2-12. The Authorized Officer
is further authorized to see to the completion of the final form of the official
statement upon the sale of the Bonds so that it may be provided to the Purchaser.

Section 4.03 Authorization to Negotiate Sale in Certain Circumstances.

An Authorized Officer may negotiate the sale of the Bonds directly with a purchaser in either
of the following circumstances:

D)

(2)

In the event no bids are received or in the event all bids are rejected in accordance
with Section 11-27-40(9)(c) of the South Carolina Code; or

Should Bonds be sold as a Series in an amount not exceeding $1,500,000 and mature
not later than ten years from its date of issuance, the sale of such Series of Bonds may
be negotiated at private sale at an interest rate to be agreed to by an Authorized
Officer and the purchaser of the Bonds. In negotiating the sale of such Bonds, an
Authorized Officer is authorized to solicit bids from qualified lenders for the
purchase of the Bonds and the award of any such solicitation shall be made under the
same standards as provided in Section 4.01 above. If the Bonds are sold under the
provisions of this section, notice of the sale of the Bonds (meeting the requirements
of 11-27-40(4) of the South Carolina Code) shall be given not less than seven days
prior to delivery of such Bonds.

* * *

19



ARTICLE V

CERTAIN DELEGATIONS AND AUTHORIZATIONS

Section 5.01 Certain Delegations.

The County Council hereby expressly delegates to and authorizes an Authorized Officer
to determine the following with regard to any Series of Bonds:

1)
(2)
3)
(4)
(5)
(6)

()
(8)

(9)

(10)

(11)

(12)

(13)

(14)

whether to issue the Bonds as a single Series or from time to time in several Series;
the conduct and manner of sale of such Bonds in accordance with Article IV hereof;
the award of such Bonds in accordance with Article 1V hereof;

the final form, Series designation, and the exact principal amount of such Bonds;
the date of issue, Bond Payment Dates, rate or rates of interest obtained using the sale
procedures of Article 1V hereof, maturity amounts and schedule, and the final

maturity of such Bonds;

whether such Bonds shall be subject to optional or mandatory redemption prior to
maturity, and if so, the Redemption Prices applicable thereto;

the Registrar and Paying Agent for such Bonds;

whether such Bonds shall be issued in book-entry form as permitted by Section 3.19
hereof;

whether to use bond insurance or other credit enhancement, and if so, to make
appropriate arrangements therefor;

whether such Bonds will be designated as “qualified tax-exempt obligations”
pursuant to the Code;

whether such Bonds shall be issued as Taxable Bonds;
whether to utilize the provisions of Section 11-27-40(8) of the Enabling Act to issue
the contemplated notice and allow the County to proceed more expeditiously to issue

such Bonds;

whether to use and the final form of a Continuing Disclosure Undertaking or other
continuing disclosure agreement or covenant;

such other matters regarding such Bonds as are necessary or appropriate; and

20



(15)  subject to and within the limitations of Section 11.09 hereof, whether to use the
excess funds available in the sinking funds established for prior general obligations
bonds of the County toward the payment of debt service on the Bonds.

* * *

21



ARTICLE VI
APPLICATION OF PROCEEDS

Section 6.01 Deposit and Use of Proceeds.

The proceeds derived from the sale of each Series of Bonds issued pursuant to this Ordinance
shall be applied in accordance with the Enabling Act, as follows:

1) any accrued interest shall be applied to the payment of the first installment of interest
to become due on such Bonds;

(2 any premium shall be deposited to the sinking fund of such Bonds;

3) the remaining proceeds shall be disbursed, as directed by an Authorized Officer, (i)
to defray or reimburse the costs of the Project and the costs of issuance of the Bonds,
or (ii) to refund, renew, or repay any BANs and to defray the cost of issuing BANSs,
as applicable.

Pending the use of the proceeds of the Bonds, the same shall be invested and reinvested in

Authorized Investments, as appropriate, provided that neither the Purchaser nor any Registered
Owner of the Bonds shall be liable for the proper application of the proceeds thereof.

* * *

22



ARTICLE VII
REDEMPTION OR PURCHASE OF BONDS

Section 7.01 Authorization of Redemption.

Bonds may be subject to redemption, in whole or in part, at any time in any order of maturity
to be determined by an Authorized Officer, upon such dates and at such Redemption Prices as he
shall have determined.

Section 7.02 Election to Redeem.

In the event that the County shall elect to redeem Bonds, it shall give notice to the Registrar
and Paying Agent of each optional redemption, which notice may be conditional in the discretion of
an Authorized Officer. Each notice of redemption shall specify the date fixed for redemption and the
Bonds which are to be redeemed. Such notice shall be given at least 30 days prior to the date fixed
for redemption or such lesser number of days as shall be acceptable to the Registrar.

Section 7.03 Notice of Redemption.

@ When any Bonds are to be redeemed, the Registrar shall give notice of the
redemption of the Bonds in the name of the County specifying: (i) the Bonds, the particular Series
thereof, and maturities to be redeemed; (ii) the redemption date; (iii) the Redemption Price (or
calculation thereof); (iv) the numbers and other distinguishing marks of the Bonds to be redeemed
unless all of the Bonds Outstanding are to be redeemed; (V) the place or places where amounts due
upon such redemption will be payable; (vi) whether the redemption of the Bonds is conditioned
upon any event; and (vii) in the case of Bonds to be redeemed in part only, the respective portions
of the principal thereof to be redeemed. Such notice shall further state that on such date there shall
become due and payable upon each Bond to be redeemed the Redemption Price thereof, and that,
from and after such date, interest thereon shall cease to accrue; provided, however, that in the event
of any conditional provision in the notice, the Bonds will not become due and payable as provided
in this section unless such condition has been satisfied as of the redemption date. The Registrar
shall mail by registered mail a copy of such notice, postage prepaid, not less than 30 days before
the redemption date to the Registered Owners of all the Bonds or portions of the Bonds which are
to be redeemed at their addresses which appear upon the Registry Books, but failure to so mail any
such notice to any of such Registered Owners shall not affect the validity of the proceedings for
the redemption of the Bonds held by Registered Owners to whom written notice has been mailed.
The obligation of the Registrar to give the notice required by this Section shall not be conditioned
upon the prior payment to the Paying Agent of money or the delivery to the Paying Agent of
Authorized Investments sufficient to pay the Redemption Price of the Bonds to which such notice
relates or the interest thereon to the redemption date.

(b) Notice of redemption having been given as provided in subsection (a) hereof, the
Bonds or portions thereof so to be redeemed shall, on the date fixed for redemption, become due
and payable at the Redemption Price specified therein, and upon presentation and surrender thereof
at the place specified in such notice, such Bonds or portions thereof shall be paid at the Redemption
Price; provided, however, that in the event of any conditional provision in the notice, the Bonds

23



will not become due and payable as provided in this section until such condition has been satisfied
as of the redemption date. On and after the redemption date (unless the County shall default in the
payment of the Redemption Price, or any conditional provision in the notice shall not have been
satisfied as of the redemption date), such Bonds shall cease to bear interest, and such Bonds shall
no longer be considered as Outstanding hereunder. If money sufficient to pay the Redemption
Price has not been made available by the County to the Paying Agent on the redemption date, such
Bonds shall continue to bear interest until paid at the same rate as they would have borne, had they
not been called for redemption, until the same shall have been paid.

(c) Notwithstanding the foregoing, the County and a Sole Holder may agree on an
alternative methodology for providing notice of redemption for the applicable Series of Bonds and
may memorialize the same in the form of the applicable Bond.

Section 7.04 Selection by Registrar of Bonds to be Redeemed.

@ If less than all of the Bonds of like Series and maturity are to be redeemed, the
particular Bonds or portions of the Bonds to be redeemed shall be selected, not less than 35 days
prior to the date fixed for redemption, or such lesser number of days as shall be acceptable to the
Registrar, by the Registrar by lot or in such other manner as the Registrar may deem to be
appropriate, provided, however, that for so long as the Bonds are held in book-entry only form,
the selection of Bonds to be redeemed hereunder shall be in accordance with the rules of the
Securities Depository.

(b) In making such selection, the Registrar shall treat each Bond to be redeemed as
representing that number of Bonds of the lowest authorized denomination as is obtained by
dividing the principal amount of such Bond by such denomination. If any Bond is to be redeemed
in part, the portion to be so redeemed shall be in a principal amount of an authorized denomination.

(c) The Registrar shall promptly notify the County in writing of the Bonds so selected
for redemption.

(d) Notwithstanding the foregoing, the County and a Sole Holder may agree on an
alternative methodology for selecting the maturities and portions thereof to be redeemed in the
case of a partial redemption and may memorialize the same in the form of the applicable Bond.

Section 7.05 Deposit of Redemption Price.

On or before any date fixed for redemption of any Bonds, cash and/or a principal amount
of non-callable Government Obligations maturing or redeemable at the option of the Registered
Owner thereof not later than the date fixed for redemption which, together with income to be
earned on such Government Obligations prior to such date fixed for redemption, will be sufficient
to provide cash to pay the Redemption Price of all Bonds or portions thereof which are to be
redeemed on such date, shall be deposited with the Paying Agent unless such amount shall have
been previously deposited with the Paying Agent. Provided, however, that in the event of a
conditional redemption such condition is not met, this Section 7.05 is inapplicable.

24



Section 7.06 Partial Redemption of Bonds.

In the event part but not all of Bonds Outstanding shall be selected for redemption, upon
presentation and surrender of such Bond by the Registered Owner thereof or his attorney duly
authorized in writing (with, if the County or the Registrar so requires, due endorsement by, or a
written instrument of transfer in form satisfactory to the County and the Registrar duly executed
by, the Registered Owner thereof or his attorney duly authorized in writing) to the Registrar, the
County shall execute and the Registrar shall authenticate and deliver to or upon the order of such
Registered Owner, without charge therefor, for the unredeemed portion of the principal amount of
the Bond so surrendered, a Bond or Bonds of any authorized denomination of like tenor. The
Bonds, if so presented and surrendered, shall be cancelled in accordance with Section 3.13 hereof.

Section 7.07 Purchases of Bonds Outstanding.

Purchases of Bonds Outstanding may also be made by the County at any time with money
available to it from any source. Upon any such purchase the County shall deliver such Bonds to
the Registrar for cancellation.

25



ARTICLE VIII
DEFEASANCE OF BONDS

Section 8.01 Defeasance.

@ If Bonds issued pursuant to this Ordinance shall have been paid and discharged,
then the obligations of this Ordinance hereunder, and all other rights granted thereby shall cease
and determine. Any Bonds shall be deemed to have been paid and discharged within the meaning
of this section under any of the following circumstances:

(1)  The Paying Agent, or other Escrow Agent, shall hold, at the stated maturities of such
Bonds, in trust and irrevocably appropriated thereto, sufficient moneys for the
payment of the Principal Installment and interest, or Redemption Price, thereof; or

(2 If default in the payment of the principal of such Bonds or the interest thereon shall
have occurred on any Bond Payment Date, and thereafter tender of such payment
shall have been made, and at such time as the Paying Agent, or other Escrow Agent,
shall hold in trust and irrevocably appropriated thereto, sufficient moneys for the
payment thereof to the date of the tender of such payment; or

3) If the County shall elect to provide for the payment of such Bonds prior to their stated
maturities and shall have deposited with the Paying Agent, or other Escrow Agent,
in an irrevocable trust moneys which shall be sufficient, or Government Obligations,
the principal of and interest on which when due will provide moneys, which together
with moneys, if any, deposited with the Paying Agent or Escrow Agent at the same
time, shall be sufficient to pay when due the Principal Installments or Redemption
Price and interest due and to become due on the Bonds on and prior to their maturity
dates or redemption dates, as the case may be. In the event that the County shall elect
to redeem such Bonds prior to their stated maturities, the County shall proceed in the
manner prescribed by Article VII hereof, subject to the provisions of Section 3.19
hereof.

Neither the Government Obligations nor moneys deposited with the Paying Agent or Escrow
Agent pursuant to this Section nor the principal or interest payments thereon shall be withdrawn or
used for any purpose other than, and shall be held in trust for, the payment of the Principal Installment
and interest, or Redemption Price, said Bonds; provided that any cash received from such principal
or interest payments on Government Obligations deposited with the Paying Agent or Escrow Agent,
if not then needed for such purpose, shall, to the extent practicable, be invested and reinvested in
Government Obligations maturing at times and in amounts sufficient to pay when due the Principal
Installment and interest, or Redemption Price, to become due on said Bonds on and prior to the
maturity date or redemption date thereof, as the case may be, and interest earned from such
reinvestments not required for the payment of the Principal Installment or Redemption Price, and
interest may be paid over to the County, as received by the Paying Agent or Escrow Agent, free and
clear of any trust, lien or pledge.

26



(b) In addition to the above requirements of paragraphs (a)(1), (2), and (3), in order for
this Ordinance to be discharged, all other fees, expenses and charges of the Paying Agent or Escrow
Agent shall have been paid in full at that time.

(© Notwithstanding the satisfaction and discharge of this Ordinance, the Paying Agent
or Escrow Agent, as applicable, shall continue to be obligated to hold in trust any moneys or
investments then held by the Paying Agent or Escrow Agent for the payment of the Principal
Installments or Redemption Price, and interest on, the Bonds, to pay to the owners of Bonds the
funds so held by the Paying Agent or Escrow Agent as and when payment becomes due.

(d) Any release under this Section shall be without prejudice to the rights of the Paying
Agent or Escrow Agent to be paid reasonable compensation for all services rendered under this
Ordinance and all reasonable expenses, charges, and other disbursements and those of their
respective attorneys, agents, and employees, incurred on and about the performance of the powers
and duties under this Ordinance.

(e) Any moneys which at any time shall be deposited with the Paying Agent or Escrow
Agent by or on behalf of the County for the purpose of paying and discharging any Bonds shall be
and are hereby assigned, transferred, and set over to the Paying Agent or Escrow Agent, as
applicable, in trust for the respective Registered Owners of the Bonds, and the moneys shall be and
are hereby irrevocably appropriated to the payment and discharge thereof. If, through lapse of time
or otherwise, the Registered Owners of such Bonds shall no longer be entitled to enforce payment
of their obligations, then, in that event, it shall be the duty of the Paying Agent or Escrow Agent to
transfer the funds to the County.

U] Any Escrow Agent shall be appointed by an Authorized Officer and shall accept in
writing its acceptance to its obligations under this Ordinance.

* * *

27



ARTICLE IX
CONCERNING THE FIDUCIARIES

Section 9.01 Fiduciary; Appointment and Acceptance of Duties.

Any financial institution chosen pursuant to Section 3.05 hereof to act as Paying Agent or
Registrar hereunder shall accept the duties and trusts imposed upon it by this Ordinance and shall
agree in writing to perform such trusts but only upon the terms and conditions set forth in this Article
IX. Similarly, each financial institution appointed as a successor Registrar or as a successor Paying
Agent shall signify its acceptance of the duties and trusts imposed by this Ordinance by a written
acceptance.

Section 9.02 Responsibilities of Fiduciaries.

The recitals of fact herein and in the Bonds contained shall be taken as the statements of the
County and no Fiduciary assumes any responsibility for the correctness of the same except in respect
of the authentication certificate of the Registrar endorsed on the Bonds. No Fiduciary makes any
representations as to the validity or sufficiency of this Ordinance or of any Bonds or as to the security
afforded by this Ordinance, and no Fiduciary shall incur any liability in respect thereof. No Fiduciary
shall be under any responsibility or duty with respect to the application of any moneys paid to any
other Fiduciary. No Fiduciary shall be under any obligation or duty to perform any act which would
involve it in expense or liability or to institute or defend any suit in respect hereof or to advance any
of its own moneys, unless indemnified to its reasonable satisfaction. No Fiduciary shall be liable in
connection with the performance of its duties hereunder except for its own negligence or willful
misconduct.

Section 9.03 Evidence on Which Fiduciaries May Act.

€)] Each Fiduciary, upon receipt of any notice, resolution, request, consent order,
certificate, report, opinion, bond, or other paper or document furnished to it pursuant to any provision
of this Ordinance, shall examine such instrument to determine whether it conforms to the
requirements of this Ordinance and shall be protected in acting upon any such instrument believed
by it to be genuine and to have been signed or presented by the proper party or parties. Each Fiduciary
may consult with counsel, who may or may not be of counsel to the County, and the opinion of such
counsel shall be full and complete authorization and protection in respect of any action taken or
suffered by it under this Ordinance in good faith and in accordance therewith.

(b) Whenever any Fiduciary shall deem it necessary or desirable that a matter to be
proved or established prior to taking or suffering any action under this Ordinance, such matter
(unless other evidence in respect thereof be therein specifically prescribed) may be deemed to be
conclusively proved and established by a certificate of an Authorized Officer, and such certificate
shall be full warrant for any action taken or suffered in good faith under the provisions of this
Ordinance upon the faith thereof; but in its discretion the Fiduciary may in lieu thereof accept other
evidence of such fact or matter or may require such further or additional evidence as to it may deem
reasonable.

28



(© Except as otherwise expressly provided in this Ordinance any request, order, notice
or other direction required or permitted to be furnished pursuant to any provision thereof by the
County to any Fiduciary shall be sufficiently executed if executed in the name of the County by an
Authorized Officer.

Section 9.04 Compensation.

The County shall pay to each financial institution or Fiduciary other than the County
Treasurer from time to time reasonable compensation based on the then standard fee schedule of the
Fiduciary for all services rendered under this Ordinance, and also all reasonable expenses, charges,
counsel fees and other disbursements, including those of its attorneys, agents, and employees,
incurred in and about the performance of their powers and duties under this Ordinance subject to the
appropriation of funds therefor in each applicable fiscal period; provided, however, that any specific
agreement between the Ordinance and a Fiduciary with respect to the compensation of such
Fiduciary shall control the compensation to be paid to such Fiduciary.

Section 9.05 Certain Permitted Acts.

Any Fiduciary may become the owner or underwriter of any Bonds, notes or other
obligations of the County or conduct any banking activities with respect to the County, with the same
rights it would have if it were not a Fiduciary. To the extent permitted by law, any Fiduciary may
act as depositary for, and permit any of its officers or directors to effect or aid in any reorganization
growing out of the enforcement of the Bonds or this Ordinance.

Section 9.06 Resignation of Any Fiduciary.

Any Fiduciary may at any time resign and be discharged of the duties and obligations created
by this Ordinance by giving not less than 60 days written notice to the County and not less than 30
days written notice to the Holders of the Bonds as established by the Registry Books prior to the next
succeeding Bond Payment Date and such resignation shall take effect upon the date specified in such
notice unless previously a successor shall have been appointed by the County pursuant to Section
9.08 hereof in which event such resignation shall take effect immediately on the appointment of such
successor. In no event, however, shall such a resignation take effect until a successor has been
appointed.

Section 9.07 Removal of Fiduciary.

Any Fiduciary may be removed at any time by an instrument or concurrent instruments in
writing, filed with the County and such Fiduciary, and signed by the Bondholders representing a
majority in principal amount of the Bonds then Outstanding or their attorneys in fact duly authorized,
excluding any Bonds held by or for the account of the County.

Section 9.08 Appointment of Successor Fiduciaries.

In case any Fiduciary hereunder shall resign or be removed, or be dissolved, or shall be in
the course of dissolution or liquidation, or otherwise become incapable or acting hereunder, or in

29



case it shall be taken under the control of any public officer or officers, or of a receiver appointed by
a court, a successor shall be appointed by the County. Any financial institution appointed as a
successor Fiduciary pursuant to the provisions of this Section shall be a trust company or bank
organized under the laws of the United States of America or any State thereof and which is in good
standing, within or outside the State, having a stockholders’ equity of not less than $50,000,000 if
there be such an institution willing, qualified and able to accept the trusts upon reasonable and
customary terms.

If in a proper case no appointment of a successor Fiduciary shall be made by the County
pursuant to the foregoing provisions of this Section within 45 days after any Fiduciary shall have
given to the County written notice as provided in Section 9.06 hereof or after a vacancy in the office
of such Fiduciary shall have occurred by reason of its removal or inability to act, the former Fiduciary
or any Registered Owner may apply to any court of competent jurisdiction to appoint a successor.
Said court may thereupon, after such notice, if any, as such court may deem proper, appoint a
successor.

Section 9.09 Transfer of Rights and Property to Successor.

Any successor Fiduciary appointed under this Ordinance shall execute, acknowledge, and
deliver to its predecessor, and also to the County, an instrument accepting such appointment, and
thereupon such successor, without any further act, deed or conveyance, shall become fully vested
with all moneys, estates, properties, rights, powers, duties and obligations of such predecessor
Fiduciary, with like effect as if originally named in such capacity; but the Fiduciary ceasing to act
shall nevertheless, on the written request of the County, or of the successor, execute, acknowledge
and deliver such instruments of conveyance and further assurance and do such other things as may
reasonably be required for more fully and certainly vesting and confirming in such successor all the
right, title and interest of the predecessor Fiduciary in and to any property held by it under this
Ordinance, and shall pay over, assign and deliver to the successor Fiduciary any money or other
property subject to the trusts and conditions herein set forth. Should any deed, conveyance or
instrument in writing from the County be required by such successor Fiduciary for more fully and
certainly vesting in and confirming to such successor any such estates, rights, powers and duties, any
and all such deeds, conveyances and instruments in writing shall, on request, and so far as may be
authorized by law, be executed, acknowledged and delivered by the County. Any such successor
Fiduciary shall promptly notify the Paying Agent and depositaries, if any, of its appointment as
Fiduciary.

Section 9.10 Merger or Consolidation.

Any company into which any Fiduciary may be merged or converted or with which it may
be consolidated or any company resulting from any merger, conversion or consolidation to which it
may be a party or any company to which any Fiduciary may sell or transfer all or substantially all of
its corporate trust business, provided such company shall be a bank or trust company organized under
the laws of any State of the United States or a national banking association, and shall be authorized
by law to perform all the duties imposed upon it by this Ordinance, shall be the successor to such
Fiduciary without the execution or filing of any paper or the performance of any further act.

30



Section 9.11 Adoption of Authentication.

In case any of the Bonds contemplated to be issued under this Ordinance shall have been
authenticated but not delivered, any successor Registrar may adopt the certificate of authentication
of any predecessor Registrar so authenticating such Bonds and deliver such Bonds so
authenticated. In case any such Bonds shall not have been authenticated, any successor Registrar
may authenticate such Bonds in the name of the predecessor Registrar or in the name of the
successor Registrar, and in all such cases such certificate shall be of full force and effect.

* * *

31



ARTICLE X

TAX AND DISCLOSURE COVENANTS

Section 10.01 Tax Covenants.

@ General Tax Covenant. The County will comply with all requirements of the Code
in order to preserve the tax-exempt status of the Bonds, including without limitation, (i) the
requirement to file Form 8038-G, Information Return for Tax-Exempt Government Obligations,
with the Internal Revenue Service, and (ii) the requirement to rebate certain arbitrage earnings to
the United States Government pursuant to Section 148(f) of the Code. In this connection, the
County covenants to execute any and all agreements or other documentation as it may be advised
by Bond Counsel will enable it to comply with this Section 10.01, including its certification on
reasonable grounds that the Bonds are not “arbitrage bonds” within the meaning of Section 148 of
the Code.

(b) Tax Representations. The County hereby represents and covenants that it will not
take any action which will, or fail to take any action which failure will, cause interest on the Bonds
to become includable in the gross income of the Registered Owners thereof for federal income tax
purposes pursuant to the provisions of the Code. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing,
the County represents and covenants that:

@ All property financed or refinanced with the proceeds of the Bonds will be owned
by the County or another political subdivision of the State so long as the Bonds are
Outstanding in accordance with the rules governing the ownership of property for
federal income tax purposes.

2 The County shall not use, and will not permit any party to use, the proceeds of the
Bonds, or any bonds refunded thereby, in any manner that would result in (i) ten
percent (10%) or more of such proceeds being considered as having been used
directly or indirectly in any trade or business carried on by any Nongovernmental
Person, (ii) five percent (5%) or more of such proceeds being considered as having
been used directly or indirectly in any trade or business of any Nongovernmental
Person that is either “unrelated” or “disproportionate” to the governmental use of
the financed facility by the County or by any other Governmental Unit (as the terms
“unrelated” and “disproportionate” are defined for purposes of Section 141(b)(3)
of the Code) or (iii) more than five percent (5%) of such proceeds, but in no event
more than $5,000,000, being considered as having been used directly or indirectly
to make or finance loans to any Nongovernmental Person.

3 The County is not a party to, and will not enter into or permit any other party to
enter into, any contract with any person involving the management of any facility
financed or refinanced with the proceeds of the Bonds or by notes paid by the Bonds
that does not conform to the guidelines set forth in Revenue Procedure 2017-13, or
a successor revenue procedure or Code provision.

32



4) The County will not sell, or permit any other party to sell, any property financed or
refinanced with the Bonds to any person unless it obtains an opinion of Bond
Counsel that such sale will not affect the tax-exempt status of the Bonds.

5) The Bonds will not be “federally guaranteed” within the meaning of Section 149(b)
of the Code. The County shall not enter into, or permit any other party to enter
into, any leases or sales or service contract with any federal government agency
with respect to any facility financed or refinanced with the proceeds of the Bonds
and will not enter into any such leases or contracts unless it obtains the opinion of
nationally recognized bond counsel that such action will not affect the tax-exempt
status of the Bonds.

(c) Arbitrage Bonds, Rebate. The County covenants that no use of the proceeds of the
sale of the Bonds shall be made which, if such use had been reasonably expected on the date of
issue of such Bonds would have caused the Bonds to be “arbitrage bonds™ as defined in the Code,
and to that end the County shall:

(1)  comply with the applicable regulations of the Treasury Department previously
promulgated under Section 103 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954, as amended,
and any regulations promulgated under the Code, so long as the Bonds are
Outstanding;

2 establish such funds, make such calculations and pay such amounts, in the manner
and at the times required in order to comply with the requirements of the Code
relating to required rebate of certain amounts to the United States Government;

3 make such reports of such information at the time and places required by the Code;
and

4 take such other action as may be required to assure that the tax-exempt status of the
Bonds will not be impaired.

(d) Bank Qualified. Any qualifying Series of Bonds may be designated by an
Authorized Officer pursuant to Article V hereof as “qualified tax-exempt obligations” in
accordance with Section 265(b)(3)(B) of the Code, and after consultation with Bond Counsel.

(e) Tax Certificate. An Authorized Officer is hereby authorized and directed to
execute, at or prior to delivery of any Series of Bonds, a certificate or certificates specifying actions
taken or to be taken by the County, and the reasonable expectations of such officials, with respect
to such Series of Bonds, the proceeds thereof, or the County. The County agrees to comply with
its undertakings on its part set forth in any such certificate delivered with respect to Bonds.

U] Reimbursement Declaration. The County hereby declares its intention to reimburse

itself for a portion of the costs of the Project with the proceeds of the Bonds. To that end, the
County Council determines and declares as follows:

33



Q) No funds from any sources other than the Bonds are or are reasonably expected to
be, reserved, allocated on a long-term basis, or otherwise set aside by the County
pursuant to the budget or financial policies of the County for the financing of the
portion of the costs of acquisition, construction, and equipping of the Projects to be
funded with the Bonds;

2 The County reasonably expects that all or a portion of the expenditures incurred for
the Project and the issuance of the Bonds will be paid prior to the issuance of the
Bonds;

3 The County intends and reasonably expects to reimburse itself for all such
expenditures paid by it with respect to the Projects prior to the issuance of the Bonds
from the proceeds of the Bonds, and such intention is consistent with the budgetary
and financial circumstances of the County;

4 All of the costs to be paid or reimbursed from the proceeds of the Bonds will be for
costs incurred in connection with the issuance of the Bonds, or will, at the time of
payment thereof, be properly chargeable to the capital account of the Projects (or
would be so chargeable with a proper election) under general federal income tax
principles; and

5) this Bond Ordinance shall constitute a declaration of official intent under United
States Department of the Treasury Regulation Section 1.150-2.

4))] Taxable Bonds. Prior to the issuance of a Series of Bonds, an Authorized Officer
may, in consultation with Bond Counsel, designate a Series of Bonds as Taxable Bonds pursuant
to the delegation authorization in Article V hereof. The election to issue a Series of Taxable Bonds
shall be clearly indicated by including the phrase “Taxable Series,” or words to that effect, in the
series designation of such Taxable Bonds. The above provisions of this Section 10.01 shall not be
applicable to any Series of Taxable Bonds.

Section 10.02 Continuing Disclosure.

@) The County hereby covenants and agrees that it will comply with and carry out all
of the provisions of any continuing disclosure certificate or agreement, executed by an Authorized
Officer and dated the date of delivery of the Bonds, which will meet the requirements, as
applicable, of Section 11-1-85 of the South Carolina Code, which may require, among other things,
that the County file with a central repository when requested: (i) a copy of its annual independent
audit within 30 days of its receipt and acceptance and (ii) event-specific information, within 30
days of an event adversely affecting more than five percent of its revenues or five percent of its
tax base. The only remedy for failure by the County to comply with the covenants in this Section
10.02 shall be an action for specific performance of this covenant. The County specifically reserves
the right to amend this covenant to reflect any change in Section 11-1-85 of the South Carolina
Code, without the consent of any Registered Owner.

34



(b) The County hereby covenants and agrees that it will comply with and carry out all
of the provisions of any Continuing Disclosure Undertaking, executed by an Authorized Officer
in connection with the issuance and delivery of a Series of Bonds. Notwithstanding any other
provision of this Ordinance, failure of the County to comply with the Continuing Disclosure
Undertaking shall not be considered an event of default hereunder; however, any Registered
Owner may take such actions as may be necessary and appropriate, including seeking mandamus
or specific performance by court order, to cause the County to comply with its obligations under
this Section. The execution of the Continuing Disclosure Undertaking shall constitute conclusive
evidence of the approval by the person executing the same of any and all modifications and
amendments thereto. Additionally, the Authorized Officer is authorized to contract with a
dissemination agent for certain dissemination services associated with the execution and delivery
of the Continuing Disclosure Undertaking.

(c) In the event a Series of Bonds are not sold as securities, but rather as a commercial
loan to a Direct Placement Purchaser, no Continuing Disclosure Undertaking shall be required, but
the County hereby covenants and agrees to provide financial information to the purchaser of such
Series of Bonds as may be mutually agreed by an Authorized Officer and the Direct Placement
Purchaser, including an agreement to provide audited financial statements within a fixed period or
by a set date. Any failure by the County to comply with this paragraph, or an agreement or covenant
authorized hereby, shall be enforceable solely by an action for specific performance to provide the
appropriate documents or information, and shall not be a default under this Bond Ordinance or the
Bonds.

35



ARTICLE XI
MISCELLANEOQOUS

Section 11.01 Failure to Present Bonds.

Anything in this Ordinance to the contrary notwithstanding, any money held by the Paying
Agent in trust for the payment and discharge of any of the Bonds, or the interest thereon, which
remains unclaimed for such period of time, after the date when such Bonds have become due and
payable, that the Registered Owner thereof shall no longer be able to enforce the payment thereof,
the Paying Agent shall at the written request of the County pay such money to the County as its
absolute property and free from trust, and the Paying Agent shall thereupon be released and
discharged with respect thereto and the Registered Owner shall look only to the County for the
payment of such Bonds; provided, however, the Paying Agent shall forward to the County all
moneys which remain unclaimed during a period five years from a Bond Payment Date, provided,
however, that before being required to make any such payment to the County, the Paying Agent,
at the expense of the County, may conduct such investigations as may in the opinion of the Paying
Agent be necessary to locate the Registered Owner of those who would take if the Registered
Owner shall have died.

Section 11.02 Professional Services.

The County Council hereby authorizes, approves, or ratifies, as applicable, the engagement
of First Tryon Advisors to act as financial advisor (the “Financial Advisor”) and Pope Flynn, LLC
to act as Bond Counsel and disclosure counsel (if applicable) in connection with the issuance of
each Series of Bonds hereunder and authorizes an Authorized Officer to engage the services of
such other professionals and institutions of a type and in a manner customary in connection with
the issuance of municipal bonds, including, but not limited to, contractual arrangements with other
professionals, rating agencies, verification agents, financial and trust institutions, printers and the
suppliers of other goods and services in connection with the sale, execution and delivery of the
Bonds, as is necessary and desirable.

Section 11.03 Filing of Copies of Ordinance.

Copies of this Ordinance shall be filed in the office of the Clerk to County Council and in
the office of the Clerk of Court for the County (as a part of the Record of Proceedings).

Section 11.04 Further Action by Officers of the County.

The County Council hereby ratifies any actions previously taken that are contemplated or
authorized herein. The County Council authorizes any Authorized Officer, and all other
appropriate officials of the County, to execute all such agreements, documents and instruments as
may be necessary, required, or appropriate to effect the issuance of the Bonds. The Clerk to County
Council is authorized and directed to attest and otherwise certify all appropriate agreements,
documents and instruments in connection with the issuance of the Bonds.

Section 11.05 Ordinance to Constitute Contract.

36



In consideration of the purchase and acceptance of Bonds, the provisions of this Ordinance
shall constitute a contract between the County and such Registered Owners from time to time of
the Bonds.

Section 11.06 Savings Clause.

If any one or more of the covenants or agreements provided in this Ordinance should be
contrary to law, then such covenant or covenants or agreement or agreements shall be deemed
severable from the remaining covenants and agreements, and shall in no way affect the validity of
the other provisions of this Ordinance.

Section 11.07 Successors.

Whenever in this Ordinance the County is named or referred to, it shall be deemed to include
any entity, which may succeed to the principal functions and powers of the County, and all the
covenants and agreements contained in this Ordinance or by or on behalf of the County shall bind
and inure to the benefit of said successor whether so expressed or not.

Section 11.08 General Repealer; Effective Date.

All rules, regulations, resolutions, and ordinances and parts thereof, procedural or
otherwise in conflict herewith or the proceedings authorizing the issuance of the Bonds are, to the
extent of such conflict, hereby repealed and this Ordinance shall take effect and be in full force
upon enactment at third reading thereof.

Section 11.09 Excess Sinking Fund Monies.

The County has certain prior general obligation bonds that have matured or been redeemed.
Subsequent to such maturity or redemptions, the County collected excess debt service millage
associated with scheduled payments on such obligations. To the extent such excess collections are
available, the County authorizes and appropriates the sum of not exceeding $1,500,000, with final
amount to be determined by the County’s finance staff based on actual available funds, to be used
and appropriated toward the first occurring payments of principal and interest coming due on the
Bonds.

* * *

37



DONE, RATIFIED, AND ENACTED in meeting duly assembled this 7" day of August

2023.
PICKENS COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA
(SEAL)
Chris Bowers, Chairman of County Council
Pickens County, South Carolina
Attest:

Meagan Nations, Clerk to County Council
Pickens County, South Carolina

First Reading: July 10, 2023
Second Reading: July 17, 2023
Public Hearing: August 7, 2023
Third Reading: August 7, 2023

38



EXHIBIT A
FORM OF NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING

NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING

Notice is hereby given that on August 7, 2023, at 6:30 p.m., the County Council of Pickens County
(the “County Council”), the governing body of Pickens County, South Carolina (the “County”),
will hold a public hearing in the in the Pickens County Administration Facility (County Council
Chambers) located at 222 McDaniel Avenue, Pickens, South Carolina, 29671, on the question of
the enactment of an ordinance entitled “AN ORDINANCE TO PROVIDE FOR THE ISSUANCE
AND SALE OF NOT EXCEEDING TWELVE MILLION SEVEN HUNDRED FIFTY
THOUSAND DOLLARS ($12,750,000) AGGREGATE PRINCIPAL AMOUNT OF GENERAL
OBLIGATION BONDS OF PICKENS COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA, TO PRESCRIBE THE
PURPOSES FOR WHICH THE PROCEEDS SHALL BE EXPENDED, TO PROVIDE FOR THE
PAYMENT THEREOF, AND TO PROVIDE FOR OTHER MATTERS RELATED THERETO”
(the “Ordinance”). Pursuant to the authorizations of the Ordinance, the County Council intends to
issue not exceeding $12,750,000 of general obligation bonds (the “Bonds™) to provide funds to
defray: (i) the costs of the acquisition, design, improvement, and construction of the Highway 183
expansion project; and (ii) the costs of issuance thereof. The full faith, credit, and taxing power of
the County will be pledged to secure the payment of the Bonds. All interested persons will be
given an opportunity to be heard and express their views at the public hearing. A copy of the
Ordinance is available for review at the County’s Administration Facility during normal business
hours.

Anyone who wishes information prior to the public hearing should contact the Clerk to
Council at (864) 898-5856.

Chris Bowers
Chairman
Pickens County Council



EXHIBIT B
FORMS OF BONDS

[FORM OF BOND FOR COMPETITIVE DIRECT PLACEMENT]

WITH THE CONSENT OF THE PURCHASER, AND NOTWITHSTANDING ANY
CONTRARY PROVISION CONTAINED IN THE ORDINANCE, THE BOND MAY BE
SOLD OR TRANSFERRED ONLY TO SUBSEQUENT PURCHASERS WHO EXECUTE
AN INVESTMENT LETTER DELIVERED TO THE COUNTY, IN FORM
SATISFACTORY TO THE COUNTY, CONTAINING CERTAIN REPRESENTATIONS,
WARRANTIES AND COVENANTS AS TO THE SUITABILITY OF SUCH
PURCHASERS TO PURCHASE AND HOLD THE BOND. SUCH RESTRICTION
SHALL BE SET FORTH ON THE FACE OF THE BOND AND SHALL BE COMPLIED
WITH BY EACH TRANSFEREE OF THE BOND.

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
PICKENS COUNTY
GENERAL OBLIGATION BOND
SERIES 2023

No. R-1

REGISTERED OWNER:
PRINCIPAL AMOUNT: $
ORIGINAL ISSUE DATE:

PICKENS COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA (the “County”), a public body corporate and
politic and a political subdivision of the State of South Carolina (the “State”), acknowledges itself
indebted and for value received hereby promises to pay to the Registered Owner named above, or
registered assigns, solely as hereinafter provided. This bond (this “Bond”) is being issued in the
principal amount of $ , pursuant to and in accordance with the Constitution and laws of
the State of South Carolina, including Article X, Section 14 of the Constitution of the State of South
Carolina, 1895, as amended; Title 4, Chapter 15 of the Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976, as
amended, Title 11, Chapter 27 of the Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976, as amended; and a bond
ordinance duly adopted by the Pickens County Council, its governing body, on August 7, 2023 (the
“Ordinance”). Capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed to
them in the Ordinance.

This Bond shall be payable with respect to principal on 1 of the years 20__ through
20, inclusive, and shall be payable with respect to interest each 1 and 1 (the “Bond
Payment Dates”), beginning 1, 20, through and including 1, 20 . The payments

due on the Bond Payment Dates (the “Bond Payments”) are set forth at Exhibit A hereto. This Bond
shall bear interest at the rate of % per annum, calculated on the basis of a 360-day year consisting
of twelve 30-day months, from the original issue date of this Bond and shall be paid by way of the
Bond Payments to the person in whose name this Bond is registered at the close of business on the
fifteenth day of the month next preceding each Bond Payment Date. The Bond Payments shall be
payable by check or draft mailed at the times provided herein from the Paying Agent to the person

B-1



EXHIBIT B
FORMS OF BONDS

in whose name this Bond is registered at the address shown on the registration books. [Insert wire or
other payment provisions, if any] The Bond Payments are payable in any coin or currency of the
United States of America which at the time of payment is legal tender for the payment of public and
private debts. The County and the Registered Owner have mutually agreed to waive all
requirements for presentation and surrender of this Bond in connection with the payment thereof;
provided, however that upon the payment of final Bond Payment, the Purchaser will either (i)
present and surrender this Bond, (ii) provide other Indicia of Satisfaction, or (iii) [insert mutually
agreed mechanism].

[This Bond is not subject to optional redemption prior to maturity.] [This Bond is subject
to optional redemption at the option of the County, in whole, or in part, at any time at [___ 1% of
the principal amount redeemed plus accrued interest to the date of redemption.] [This Bond is
subject to optional redemption at the option of the County before , 20__, [in whole, but
not in part], at any time at [ ]% of the principal amount redeemed plus accrued interest to the
date of redemption. After , 20__, the Bond is subject to redemption at the option of the
County, in whole, but not in part, at any time at [ ]% of then outstanding principal plus accrued
interest to the date of redemption.]

If this Bond is called for redemption, the Registrar will give notice to the Registered Owner
of this Bond in the name of the County, of the redemption of such Bonds, or portions thereof.
[Notice and redemption conditions shall otherwise comply with Section 7.03 of the Bond
Ordinance.]

THE FULL FAITH, CREDIT, AND TAXING POWER OF THE COUNTY ARE HEREBY
IRREVOCABLY PLEDGED FOR THE PAYMENT OF THIS BOND, AND THERE SHALL BE
LEVIED AND COLLECTED ANNUALLY A TAX ON ALL TAXABLE PROPERTY IN THE
COUNTY, WITHOUT LIMIT, SUFFICIENT TO PAY THE PRINCIPAL OF AND INTEREST
ON THIS BOND AS THE SAME MATURES AND COMES DUE, RESPECTIVELY, AND TO
CREATE SUCH SINKING FUND AS MAY BE NECESSARY THEREFOR.

This Bond shall be transferable only upon the Registry Books maintained for such purpose
by the Registrar, upon presentation and surrender thereof by the Registered Owner of the Bond in
person or by his attorney duly authorized in writing, together with a written instrument of transfer
satisfactory to the Registrar duly executed by the Registered Owner or his duly authorized attorney.
Upon surrender for transfer of Bonds, the County shall execute, authenticate and deliver, in the name
of the Person who is the transferee, a new Bond of the same principal amount and maturity and rate
of interest as the surrendered Bond. Such new Bond shall reflect the principal amount thereof as then
yet unpaid. The County, the Registrar, and the Paying Agent may deem and treat the person in whose
name this Bond is registered as the absolute owner hereof for the purpose of receiving payment of
or on account of the principal hereof and interest due hereon and for all other purposes.

For every exchange or transfer of this Bond, the County or the Paying Agent or Registrar,

as the case may be, may make a charge sufficient to reimburse it for any tax, fee or other
governmental charge required to be paid with respect to such exchange or transfer.

B-2



EXHIBIT B
FORMS OF BONDS

[The County shall deliver to the Registered Owner within ___ days of each fiscal year end
audited financial statements of the County for such fiscal year. Any failure of the County to comply
with the terms of this paragraph shall be enforceable solely through an action for specific
performance to provide the appropriate documents or information and shall not be a default under
this instrument or the Ordinance.]

Under the laws of the State of South Carolina, this Bond and the interest hereon are exempt
from all State, county, municipal, school district and other taxes or assessments, direct or indirect,
general or special, whether imposed for the purpose of general revenue or otherwise, except
inheritance, estate or transfer taxes, but the interest hereon may be included in certain franchise fees
or taxes.

It is hereby certified and recited that all acts, conditions and things required by the
Constitution and laws of the State of South Carolina to exist, to happen and to be performed
precedent to or in the issuance of this Bond exist, have happened and have been performed in regular
and due time, form and manner as required by law; that the amount of this Bond, together with all
other general obligation and bonded indebtedness of the County does not exceed the applicable
limitation of indebtedness under the laws of the State of South Carolina; and that provision has been
made for the levy and collection of a tax, without limit, on all taxable property in the County
sufficient to pay the principal and interest of this Bond as they become due and payable and to create
such sinking fund as may be necessary therefor.

This Bond shall not be valid or obligatory for any purpose, until the Certificate of
Authentication hereon shall have been duly executed by the Registrar.

[Signature Page Follows]



EXHIBIT B
FORMS OF BONDS

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, PICKENS COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA, has caused
this Bond to be signed by the manual signature of the Chairman of the County Council, the same
to be attested by the manual signature of the Clerk to County Council, and the seal of the County
to be impressed hereon.

PICKENS COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA
(SEAL)

Chris Bowers, Chairman
Pickens County Council

Attest:

Meagan Nations, Clerk to Council
Pickens County Council

B-4



EXHIBIT B
FORMS OF BONDS

CERTIFICATE OF AUTHENTICATION

This Bond has been registered in the name of [PURCHASER], on the registration books kept
by the Office of the Pickens County Treasurer, as Registrar.

By:

Treasurer
Pickens County, South Carolina



EXHIBIT B
FORMS OF BONDS

The following abbreviations, when used in the inscription on the face of this Bond, shall be
construed as though they were written out in full according to applicable laws or regulations.

TEN COM - as tenants in common UNIF GIFT MIN ACT -
TEN ENT - as tenants by the Custodian
entireties (Cust) (Minor)
under Uniform Gifts to
JT TEN - as joint tenants with Minors Act
right of survivorship (State)
and not as tenants in
common

Additional abbreviations may also be used though not in above list.

FORM OF ASSIGNMENT

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, the undersigned sells, assigns and transfers unto

(Name and Address of Transferee)
the within Bond and does hereby irrevocably constitute and
appoint attorney to transfer the within Bond on the books kept for
registration thereof, with full power of substitution in the premises.

Dated:

Signature Guaranteed (Authorized Officer)

Notice: Signature(s) must be Notice: The signature to the
guaranteed by an institution assignment must correspond with
which is a participant in the the name of the registered
Securities Transfer Agents holder as it appears upon the
Medallion Program (“STAMP”) face of the within Bond in every
or similar program. particular, without alteration or

enlargement or any change whatsoever.

B-6



EXHIBIT B
FORMS OF BONDS

[FORM OF BOND FOR COMPETITIVE PUBLIC OFFERING]
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
PICKENS COUNTY

GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS
SERIES 2023

No.R-__

INTEREST RATE MATURITY DATE ORIGINAL ISSUE DATE CUSIP

REGISTERED OWNER:

PRINCIPAL AMOUNT: $

PICKENS COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA (the “County”), a public body corporate and
politic and a political subdivision of the State of South Carolina (the “State”), acknowledges itself
indebted and for value received hereby promises to pay, solely as hereinafter provided, to the
Registered Owner named above, or registered assigns, the Principal Amount shown above on the
Maturity Date shown above, upon presentation and surrender of this bond at the Corporate Trust
Office of in the City of (the “Paying Agent” or the “Registrar”),
and to pay interest on such principal sum at the interest rate set forth above (calculated on the basis
of a 360-day year of twelve 30-day months), until the County’s obligation with respect to the
payment of such Principal Amount shall be discharged.

Interest on this bond is payable semiannually on and of each year
commencing (each, a “Bond Payment Date”), until this bond matures. This bond shall
bear interest at the rate of interest per annum set forth above (on the basis of a 360-day year of
twelve 30-day months) from , 2023, if no interest has yet been paid; otherwise from the
last Bond Payment Date to which interest has been paid and which Bond Payment Date is on or
prior to the authentication date thereof.

Both the principal of and interest on this bond shall be payable by check or draft mailed
to the person in whose name this bond is registered on the Registry Books (as defined in the Bond
Ordinance) maintained at the Corporate Trust Office of the Registrar, at the close of business on
the 15" day of the calendar month next preceding each Bond Payment Date. The principal and
interest on this bond are payable in any coin or currency of the United States of America which is,
at the time of payment, legal tender for public and private debts.

B-7



EXHIBIT B
FORMS OF BONDS

This bond is one of an issue of bonds (the “Series 2023 Bonds”) of like date of original
issue, tenor and effect, except as to number, date of maturity, denomination and rate of interest,
issued in an original aggregate principal amount of $ , issued pursuant to and in
accordance with the Constitution and laws of the State of South Carolina, including Article X,
Section 14 of the Constitution of the State of South Carolina, 1895, as amended; Title 4, Chapter
15 of the Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976, as amended, and Title 11, Chapter 27 of the Code
of Laws of South Carolina, 1976, as amended; and an ordinance duly enacted by the County
Council of Pickens County, on August 7, 2023 (the “Bond Ordinance”). Terms with initial capitals
used herein and not otherwise defined have the meaning given such terms in the Bond Ordinance.

Series 2023 Bonds maturing on or before 1, 20__, are not subject to optional
redemption prior to maturity. Series 2023 Bonds maturing after 1, 20__, are subject to
redemption prior to maturity, in whole or in part, at the option of the County, at any time on and
after 1,20 __, ataredemption price of par plus accrued interest to the date of redemption.

If this bond is called for redemption, the Registrar will give notice to the Registered Owner
of this bond in the name of the County, of the redemption of such bond, or portions thereof. Notice
and redemption conditions shall otherwise comply with Section 7.03 of the Bond Ordinance.

THE FULL FAITH, CREDIT, AND TAXING POWER OF THE COUNTY ARE HEREBY
IRREVOCABLY PLEDGED FOR THE PAYMENT OF THIS BOND, AND THERE SHALL BE
LEVIED AND COLLECTED ANNUALLY A TAX ON ALL TAXABLE PROPERTY IN THE
COUNTY, WITHOUT LIMIT, SUFFICIENT TO PAY THE PRINCIPAL OF AND INTEREST
ON THIS BOND AS THE SAME MATURES AND COMES DUE, RESPECTIVELY, AND TO
CREATE SUCH SINKING FUND AS MAY BE NECESSARY THEREFOR.

The Series 2023 Bonds are being issued by means of a book-entry system with no physical
distribution of bond certificates to be made except as provided in the Bond Ordinance. One bond
certificate with respect to each date on which the Series 2023 Bonds are stated to mature, registered
in the name of the Securities Depository Nominee, is being issued and required to be deposited
with the Securities Depository and immobilized in its custody. The book-entry system will
evidence positions held in the Series 2023 Bonds by the Securities Depository's Participants,
beneficial ownership of the Series 2023 Bonds in the principal amount of $5,000 or any multiple
thereof being evidenced in the records of such Participants. Transfers of ownership shall be
effected on the records of the Securities Depository on the records of the Securities Depository
and its Participants pursuant to rules and procedures established by the Securities Depository and
its Participants. The County and the Paying Agent will recognize the Securities Depository
Nominee, while the Registered Owner of this bond, as the owner of this bond for all purposes,
including payments of principal of, interest on, and Redemption Price, if any, this bond, notices
and voting. Transfer of principal of, interest on, and Redemption Price, if any, payments to
Participants of the Securities Depository will be the responsibility of the Securities Depository,
and transfer of principal of, interest on, and Redemption Price if any, to beneficial owners of the
Series 2023 Bonds by Participants of the Securities Depository will be the responsibility of such
Participants and other nominees of such beneficial owners.



EXHIBIT B
FORMS OF BONDS

The County will not be responsible or liable for such transfers of payments or for
maintaining, supervision or reviewing the records maintained by the Securities Depository, the
Securities Depository Nominee, its Participants or persons acting through such Participants. While
the Securities Depository Nominee is the Registered Owner of this bond, notwithstanding, the
provision hereinabove contained, payments of principal, interest, and Redemption Price, if any,
shall be made in accordance with existing arrangements between the Paying Agent or its
successors under the Bond Ordinance and the Securities Depository.

This bond is transferable only upon the Registry Books kept for that purpose at the
Corporate Trust Office of the Registrar and Paying Agent by the Registered Owner hereof in
person or by his duly authorized attorney upon surrender of this bond together with a written
instrument of transfer satisfactory to the Registrar duly executed by the Registered Owner or his
duly authorized attorney. Thereupon a new fully registered bond or bonds of the same series,
aggregate principal amount, interest rate, and maturity shall be issued to the transferee in exchange
herefor as provided in the Ordinance. The County and the Registrar and Paying Agent may deem
and treat the person in whose name this bond is registered as the absolute owner hereof for the
purpose of receiving payment of or on account of the principal hereof and interest due hereon and
for all other purposes.

For every exchange or transfer of Series 2023 Bonds, the County or Registrar, as the case
may be, may make a charge sufficient to reimburse it for any tax, fee or other governmental charge
required to be paid with respect to such exchange or transfer.

Under the laws of the State of South Carolina, this bond and the interest hereon are exempt
from all State, county, municipal, school district and other taxes or assessments, direct or indirect,
general or special, whether imposed for the purpose of general revenue or otherwise, except
inheritance, estate and transfer taxes, but the interest hereon may be included for certain franchise
fees or taxes.

It is hereby certified and recited that all acts, conditions and things required by the
Constitution and laws of the State of South Carolina to exist, to happen and to be performed
precedent to or in the issuance of this bond exist, have happened and have been performed in
regular and due time, form and manner as required by law; that the amount of this bond, together
with all other general obligation and bonded indebtedness of the County, does not exceed the
applicable limitation of indebtedness under the laws of the State of South Carolina; and that
provision has been made for the levy and collection of a tax, without limit, on all taxable property
in the County sufficient to pay the principal and interest of this bond as they respectively become
due and to create such sinking fund as may be necessary therefor.

This bond shall not be valid or obligatory for any purpose, until the Certificate of
Authentication hereon shall have been duly executed by the Registrar.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, PICKENS COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA, has caused
this bond to be signed by the manual signature of the Chairman of the County Council, the same
to be attested by the manual signature of the Clerk to County Council, and the seal of the County
to be impressed hereon.

B-9



EXHIBIT B
FORMS OF BONDS

PICKENS COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA
(SEAL)

Chris Bowers, Chairman
Pickens County Council

Attest:

Meagan Nations, Clerk to Council
Pickens County Council

B-10



EXHIBIT B
FORMS OF BONDS

CERTIFICATE OF AUTHENTICATION

This bond is one of the Series 2023 Bonds described in the within mentioned Ordinance of
Pickens County, South Carolina dated August 7, 2023.

[NAME OF REGISTRAR],
as Registrar

By:

Date of Authentication:

B-11



EXHIBIT B
FORMS OF BONDS

FORM OF ASSIGNMENT

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, the undersigned sells, assigns and transfers unto

the  within  bond and does hereby irrevocably  constitute and  appoint

attorney to transfer the within bond on the books kept for registration thereof, with full power of
substitution in the premises.

Dated:

Signature (Authorized Officer)

Notice: The signature to the assignment must
correspond with the name of the registered owner
as it appears upon the face of the within bond in
every particular, without alteration or
enlargement or any change whatever.

B-12



EXHIBIT C
FORM OF SUMMARY NOTICE OF SALE

NOTICE OF SALE

Bids will be received by Pickens County, South Carolina, at __:00 a.m. (Eastern Time) on [DATE],
pursuant to, and subject to the terms of, the Official Notice of Sale with respect to the sale of the
$ General Obligation Bond[s], Series 2023 of Pickens County, South Carolina. The par
amount of the bonds is subject to adjustment as set forth in the Official Notice of Sale. The Official
Notice of Sale and other information are available from David Cheatwood, First Tryon Advisors,
Financial Advisor to Pickens County (telephone  (704)  926-2447; email
dcheatwood@firsttryon.com).

C-1



EXHIBIT D
FORMS OF OFFICIAL NOTICE OF SALE

[FORM FOR COMPETITIVE DIRECT PLACEMENT]

OFFICIAL NOTICE OF SALE

$12,750,000*
Pickens County, South Carolina
General Obligation Bond
Series 2023

Pickens County, South Carolina (the “County”), pursuant to this Official Notice of Sale, is
requesting bids from financial institutions with respect to its $12,750,000* General Obligation
Bond, Series 2023 (the “Bond”).

Your response to this Official Notice of Sale would be greatly appreciated. The following terms
and key assumptions are to be utilized in preparing your bid:

Time and Place of Sale:

Issuer:

Purpose:

Tax Treatment:
Bank Qualified:

Audit:

Security:

Rating:

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that bids addressed to the County will
be received by the County until _ :00 a.m., Eastern Time, on :

, 20__, at which time said bids will be publicly opened for the
award of a commercial loan to be evidenced by the Bond.

Pickens County, South Carolina

Proceeds of the Bond will be used to provide funds to defray (i) the costs
of the acquisition, design, improvement, and construction of the
Highway 183 expansion project (the “Project”), and (ii) the costs of
issuance of the Bond.

Tax-Exempt
No

The last three years of audited financial statements are provided under
separate attachment.

The Bond is a general obligation of the County secured by an irrevocable
pledge of the full faith, credit, and taxing power of the County. There
shall be levied and collected annually in the same manner as other
property taxes are levied and collected, an ad valorem tax, without limit
as to rate or amount, on all taxable property in the County sufficient to
pay the principal of and interest on the Bond as it matures and to create
such sinking fund as may be necessary therefor.

No rating is expected to be obtained for the Bond.

D-1



EXHIBIT D
FORMS OF OFFICIAL NOTICE OF SALE

Issue Size: $12,750,000"
Debt Structure: A preliminary amortization has been provided below and should be used
in preparation of your bid. The County reserves the right to modify the

amortization to achieve its desired debt service structure. The Bond
shall bear a single fixed rate for the entire term thereof.

[INSERT PRELIMINARY AMORTIZATION TABLE]

Principal Payments: Annual principal payments payable on of each vyear,
commencing through

Interest Payments: Semi-annual interest payments payable on and

of each year, commencing . Interest will be

calculated on a 30/360 basis.

Optional

Prepayment: The County is seeking flexibility with respect to redemption provisions.
Please specify the redemption structure(s) that would provide the
County with flexibility at the lowest cost of funds. Proposals with
multiple redemption options are permitted.

Bid Requirements: Bidders shall specify a single, fixed rate of interest for the Bond.

Bidders shall specify the rates of interest per annum which the Bond is
to bear, to be expressed in multiples of 1/1000 of 1%. The fixed rate
must be held firm until closing. A bid for less than the entire amount of
the Bond, or a bid at a price less than par, will not be considered. The
interest rate bid must be held firm until at least , 20 .

No Increased Costs: The County may deem any bids that require contractual provisions
specifying future interest rate adjustments, including those relating to
(1) the successful bidder’s increased costs, taxes, changes in capital
adequacy, or capital requirements; or (ii) events of taxability or default
related to the Bond as nonresponsive to this Official Notice of Sale and
may, in its discretion, disallow such bids.

Closing Costs: The costs of issuance of the Bond will be borne by the County.
However, the County does not anticipate paying any closing costs to or
on behalf of the successful bidder. Please specify any exceptions. Any
closing costs to be borne by the County must be included as absolute
figures and will be included in calculating total interest cost as described
below under “Award.”

Ongoing Costs: None anticipated to be paid to or on behalf of the successful bidder.
Please specify any exceptions. Any ongoing costs to be borne by the

D-2



Closing:

Ongoing Disclosure:

Award:

Sale to a Financial
Institution:

Loan Treatment:

Investment
Letter:

EXHIBIT D
FORMS OF OFFICIAL NOTICE OF SALE

County must be included as absolute figures and will be included in
calculating total interest cost as described below under “Award.”

Closing is anticipated to take place on , 20

The County will agree to provide its audit, upon request, to the
purchaser of the Bond annually within 270 days of the end of its fiscal
year. Bidders must specify any other ongoing disclosure obligations in
their bid.

The award will be based on the lowest total financing cost (including
both interest cost, and upfront and ongoing fees and expenses);
provided, however, the County reserves the right to select the bidder
offering terms that best meet the needs of the County, including, without
limitation, flexible prepayment terms and an absence of additional terms
and conditions. In the event of tie bids, each tie bidder will be allowed
to submit one or more lower bids on a modified auction basis until there
is an award. The County reserves the right to request additional
information from the bidders and to waive any irregularity or
informality and to negotiate provisions and covenants directly with any
bidder. The County also reserves the right to reject all bids for any
reason.

The Bond shall be sold to a single financial institution. No official
statement, prospectus, offering circular, or other comprehensive
offering material containing material information with respect to the
County and the Bond is being issued.

By submitting a bid in response to this Notice of Sale, each bidder
acknowledges and represents to the County and its Financial Advisor
that (i) no official statement or other offering material will be furnished
other than this Notice of Sale; (ii) the bidder has knowledge and
experience in financial and business matters and that it is capable of
evaluating the merits and risks of making the commercial loan to be
evidenced by the Bond and is financially able to bear the economic risk
of holding the Bond; (iii) no CUSIP number will be obtained for the
Bond; and (iv) the bidder intends to acquire the Bond solely for its own
account as a vehicle for making a commercial loan and with no present
intention to distribute or resale the Bond or any portion thereof.

The successful bidder will be required to execute a letter to the County
acknowledging, among other things, that (i) no official statement or
other offering material has been furnished other than this Official Notice
of Sale; (ii) the successful bidder had an opportunity to make inquiries

D-3



Legal Opinion:

Schedule:

Date:

EXHIBIT D
FORMS OF OFFICIAL NOTICE OF SALE

of, and receive answers from such officials, employees, agents and
attorneys of the County; (iii) the successful bidder has knowledge and
experience in financial and business matters and that it is capable of
evaluating the merits and risks of making the loans to be evidenced by
the Bond and is financially able to bear the economic risk of holding the
Bond; (iv) the successful bidder is acquiring the Bond as a vehicle for
making a commercial loan and without a present view to the distribution
or resale thereof (subject, nevertheless, to any requirement of law that
the disposition of its property shall at all times be under its control)
within the meaning of the federal securities laws; and (v) the successful
bidder is acquiring the Bond solely for its own account and no other
person now has any direct or indirect beneficial ownership or interest
therein. The form of the investment letter is available upon request.

Pope Flynn, LLC will prepare all documents and closing papers in
connection with the issuance of the Bond, and provide a validity opinion
and an opinion as to the treatment of the interest on the Bond under
federal tax law at the County’s expense.

Official Notice of Sale Distributed:

Award of Bond:

Closing:

This Official Notice of Sale is dated , 20

Questions may be addressed to the County through its financial advisor using the contact
information below: David Cheatwood, First Tryon Advisors, 6101 Carnegie Blvd, Suite 210,
Charlotte, NC 28209 (telephone (704) 926-2447; email: dcheatwood@firsttryon.com).



EXHIBIT D
FORMS OF OFFICIAL NOTICE OF SALE

[FORM FOR COMPETITIVE PUBLIC OFFERING]
OFFICIAL NOTICE OF SALE

$[PAR]"
PICKENS COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA
GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS
SERIES 2023

(BOOK-ENTRY-ONLY)

ELECTRONIC BIDS for the purchase of the $[PAR]" General Obligation Bonds, Series
2023, of Pickens County, South Carolina (the “Bonds”’) will be received by Pickens County, South
Carolina (the “County”), in the Office of the Pickens County Administrator, 222 McDaniel
Avenue, B-2 Pickens, South Carolina 29671 until __:00 a.m. (Eastern Time) on ,
2023 (the “Sale Date”)(unless postponed as provided herein).

PARITY® Only. The County will only accept electronic bids submitted through the
BiDCOMP/Parity Electronic Bid Submission System (“PARITY®”). No other form of bid or
provider of electronic bidding services will be accepted. Information about the electronic bidding
services of PARITY® may be obtained from IPREO, Municipal Services, telephone (212) 404-
8102, or parity@ipreo.com.

Purpose. The Bonds are being issued for the purpose of providing funds to defray (i) the
costs of the acquisition, design, improvement, and construction of the Highway 183 expansion
project, and (ii) the costs of issuance of the Bonds.

Authorization. The issuance of the Bonds is authorized pursuant to the provisions of Article
X, Section 14 of the Constitution of the State of South Carolina, 1895, as amended; Title 4, Chapter
15, and Title 11, Chapter 27 of the Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976, as amended; and a bond
ordinance of the County Council of Pickens County, the governing body of the County, dated
August 7, 2023 (the “Bond Ordinance”™).

Security. The Bonds are general obligations of the County secured by an irrevocable pledge
of the full faith, credit, and taxing power of the County. There shall be levied and collected annually
in the same manner as other property taxes are levied and collected, an ad valorem tax, without limit
as to rate or amount, on all taxable property in the County sufficient to pay the principal of and
interest on the Bonds as they respectively mature and to create such sinking fund as may be necessary
therefor.

Description of the Bonds. The Bonds will initially be subject to a system of book-entry
registration maintained by The Depository Trust Company, New York, New York (“DTC”).
Principal of the Bonds when due will be paid upon presentation and surrender of such Bonds at the
Corporate Trust Office of the Paying Agent, as identified herein. The Bonds will be dated the date
of delivery thereof, and bear interest from their dated date at a rate or rates to be named by the
successful bidder (the “Purchaser”). Interest on the Bonds will be payable on 1and 1
of each year commencing 1, 20__. Interest on the Bonds will be calculated on the basis of a

D-5



EXHIBIT D
FORMS OF OFFICIAL NOTICE OF SALE

360-day year consisting of twelve 30-day months. Both principal of and interest on the Bonds will
be paid in any coin or currency of the United States of America, which, at the time of payment, is
legal tender for the payment of public and private debts. The Bonds will be issued in denominations
of $5,000 or any multiple thereof. The Bonds will mature on 1 (the “Annual Principal
Payment Date”) in the years and principal amounts as follows:

Principal
1 Amount”

“ Preliminary, subject to adjustment as set forth herein.

Optional Redemption. [The Bonds maturing on or prior to | ] 1, 20__ are not subject
to option redemption prior to their maturity date. The Bonds maturing after | | 1,20, are
subject to redemption, in whole or in part, at any time in any order of maturity to be determined
by the County, on and after | | 1, 20 at the redemption price of par plus accrued interest to
the date fixed for redemption.]

Term Bonds. Bidders may designate in their bid two or more consecutive annual principal
payments as a term bond which matures on the last Annual Principal Payment Date of the sequence.
Any term bond so designated must be subject to mandatory sinking fund redemptions in each year
on the Annual Principal Payment Dates such that the principal amounts subject to mandatory sinking
fund redemption match the principal amounts scheduled to mature as set forth in the table above*
and equal, together with the principal amount of such term bond due at its maturity, the principal
amount of the term bond. There is no limitation on the number of term bonds.

Adjustments to Principal Amounts of the Bonds. As promptly as reasonably possible after
the bids are received, the County will notify the bidder to which the Bonds will be awarded, if and
when such award is made, and such bidder, upon such notice, shall advise the County of the initial
public offering prices of each maturity of the Bonds (the “Initial Reoffering Prices”). The Initial
Reoffering Prices of the Bonds will be used to calculate the final maturity schedules and the final
aggregate principal amount of the Bonds (the “Final Amounts”), which schedules and aggregate
principal amount are subject to adjustment in the discretion of the County to achieve the County’s
debt service objectives and to comply with State law. The Purchaser may not withdraw its bid or

* Preliminary, subject to adjustment as set forth herein.

D-6



EXHIBIT D
FORMS OF OFFICIAL NOTICE OF SALE

change the interest rates bid or the Initial Reoffering Prices as a result of any changes made to the
revised amounts.

The dollar amount bid by the Purchaser will be adjusted to reflect any adjustments in the
aggregate principal amount of the Bonds. Such adjusted bid price will reflect changes in the dollar
amount of the underwriter’s discount and original issue discount or premium, if any, but will not
change the selling compensation per $1,000 of par amount of the Bonds from the selling
compensation that would have been received based on the purchase price for the Bonds of the
winning bid and the Initial Reoffering Prices. The interest rate specified by the Purchaser for each
maturity of the Bonds at the Initial Reoffering Prices for such maturity will not change.

The Final Amounts and the adjusted purchase price will be communicated to the Purchaser
as soon as possible, but no later than 5:00 p.m. (Eastern Time) on the Sale Date.

Electronic Bidding Procedures. Bids to purchase Bonds (all or none) must be submitted
electronically via PARITY®. Bids will be communicated electronically to the County at
(Eastern Time) on the Sale Date. Prior to that time, a prospective bidder may (i) submit the
proposed terms of its bid via PARITY®, (ii) modify the proposed terms of its bid, in which event
the proposed terms as last modified will (unless the bid is withdrawn as described herein) constitute
its bid for the Bonds or (iii) withdraw its proposed bid. Once the bids are communicated
electronically via PARITY® to the County, each bid will constitute an irrevocable and
unconditional offer to purchase the Bonds on the terms therein provided. For purposes of the
electronic bidding process, the time as maintained on PARITY® shall constitute the official time.
The County will not accept bids by any means other than electronically via PARITY®.

Disclaimer. Each prospective bidder shall be solely responsible for submitting its bid via
PARITY® as described above. Each prospective bidder shall be solely responsible to make
necessary arrangements to access PARITY® for the purpose of submitting its bid in a timely
manner and in compliance with the requirements of this Official Notice of Sale. Neither the
County nor PARITY® shall have any duty or obligation to provide or assure access to PARITY®
to any prospective bidder, and neither the County nor PARITY® shall be responsible for proper
operation of, or have any liability for any delays or interruptions of, or any damages caused by,
PARITY®. The County is using PARITY® as a communication mechanism, and not as the
County’s agent, to conduct the electronic bidding for the Bonds. The County is not bound by any
advice and determination of PARITY® to the effect that any particular bid complies with the terms
of this Official Notice of Sale and in particular the “CONDITIONS OF SALE” hereinafter set
forth. All costs and expenses incurred by prospective bidders in connection with their submission
of bids via PARITY® are the sole responsibility of the bidders; and the County is not responsible,
directly or indirectly, for any of such costs or expenses. If a prospective bidder encounters any
difficulty in submitting, modifying, or withdrawing a bid for the Bonds, the bidder should
telephone PARITY® at (212) 849-5023 and notify the County’s Financial Advisor, David
Cheatwood, First Tryon Advisors, by telephone at (704) 926-2447. To the extent any instructions
or directions set forth in PARITY® conflict with this Official Notice of Sale, the terms of this
Official Notice of Sale shall control. For further information about PARITY®, potential bidders
may contact PARITY® at i-Deal (212) 849-5023.

D-7



EXHIBIT D
FORMS OF OFFICIAL NOTICE OF SALE

CONDITIONS OF SALE

Bidders are invited to name the rate or rates of interest which the Bonds are to bear, and
unless all bids are rejected, they will be awarded to the bidder offering to purchase them at the
lowest interest cost (as defined below) to the County at a price of not less than par. Bidders may
name any number of rates of interest, in any variations selected by the bidder except that:

(1)  all Bonds of the same maturity must bear the same rate of interest and yield;

2 no rate of interest named shall be more than six (6.00) percentage points;

3 a zero (0.0) percentage point rate of interest is not permitted;

(4)  each interest rate named must be a multiple of 1/8th or 1/20th of one (1) percent;
5) any premium offered must be paid in cash as a part of the purchase price; and
(6) all bids must be for no less than 100 percent of the par value of the Bonds.

By submitting a bid, each bidder represents that the bidder’s proposal is genuine, and not
a sham or collusive, and is not made in the interest of or on behalf of any person not therein named,
the bidder has not directly or indirectly induced or solicited any other bidder to submit a sham bid
or any other person, firm or corporation to refrain from bidding, and the bidder has not in any
manner sought by collusion to secure for it an advantage over any other bidder. By submitting a
bid for the Bonds, each bidder also represents and warrants to the County that (i) it has an
established industry reputation for underwriting new issuances of municipal bonds; and (ii) such
bidder’s bid for the purchase of the Bonds (if a bid is submitted in connection with the sale) is
submitted for and on behalf of such bidder by an officer or agent who is duly authorized to bind
the bidder to a legal, valid and enforceable contract for the purchase of the Bonds.

[No Good Faith Deposit. No good faith deposit shall be required.]

[Bond Insurance. The Bonds are being offered without bond insurance or any third-party
credit enhancement. Bids may not be conditioned upon qualification for or the receipt of any bond
insurance and no bid that is contingent on the use of bond insurance will be accepted.]

Basis of Award. The Bonds will be awarded to the bidder offering to purchase all of the
Bonds at the lowest interest cost to the County. The lowest interest cost shall be determined in
accordance with the true interest cost (TIC) method. In the event two or more bidders offer to
purchase the Bonds at the same lowest TIC, the County will award the Bonds to one of such bidders
based upon which bid was received first, as determined by reference to the time stamp displayed
on PARITY®. Once communicated from PARITY® to the County, Bids submitted may not be
withdrawn prior to the award.

Issue Price Determination. The County expects that the bid for the Bonds will satisfy the
federal tax requirements for a qualified competitive sale of bonds, including, among other things,
receipt of bids for the Bonds from at least three underwriters, who have established industry

D-8



EXHIBIT D
FORMS OF OFFICIAL NOTICE OF SALE

reputations for underwriting new issuances of municipal bonds (a “Qualified Competitive Bid”).
The County will advise the successful bidder as promptly as possible after the bids are opened
whether the bid constitutes a Qualified Competitive Bid, or, in the alternative, a bid that fails to
satisfy such requirements (a “Nonqualified Competitive Bid”). It is noted that procedures for a
Nonqualified Competitive Bid may require the winning bidder of the Bonds and, if
applicable, other underwriters of the Bonds, to hold the initial offering prices for certain
maturities of the Bonds for up to five business days after the sale date, as further specified
in the form of such certification.

Reoffering Price Certification. The Purchaser must deliver to the County at closing an
“issue price” or similar certificate setting forth the reasonably expected initial reoffering price to
the public of the Bonds, together with the supporting pricing wires or equivalent communications,
substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit A, if the bid constitutes a Qualified Competitive
Bid or as Exhibit B, if the bid constitutes a Nonqualified Competitive Bid, with such modifications
as may be appropriate or necessary, in the reasonable judgement of the Purchaser, the County, and
Bond Counsel.

Acceptance or Rejection of Bids. Bids will be accepted or rejected promptly after receipt and
not later than 2:00 p.m. (Eastern Time) on the Sale Date.

Rights Reserved. The County reserves the right to reject any and all bids and to reject any
bids not complying with this Official Notice of Sale. The County also reserves the right to waive any
irregularity or informality with respect to any bid.

Right to Change this Official Notice of Sale and to Postpone Offering. The County reserves
the right to make changes to this Official Notice of Sale and also reserves the right to postpone, from
time to time, the date and time established for the receipt of bids. Any such postponement will be
announced via Thomson Municipal News, Bloomberg, or other electronic information service. If
canceled, the sale may be thereafter rescheduled within 60 days of the date of the publication of
this Official Notice of Sale, and notice of such rescheduled date of sale will be posted at least 48
hours prior to the time for receipt of bids through Thomson Municipal News, Bloomberg, or other
electronic information service. On any such alternative sale date and time, any bidder may submit
an electronic bid for the purchase of the Bonds in conformity in all respects with the provisions of
this Official Notice of Sale, except for the date and time of sale and except for any changes
announced over Thomson Municipal News, Bloomberg, or other electronic information service at
the time the sale date and time are announced.

Delivery of Bonds. The Bonds will be delivered through the facilities of DTC on or about
, 20__, against payment of the purchase price therefor in federal funds.

Documents to be Delivered at Closing. The County will furnish, without cost to the
Purchaser, the Bonds, an opinion as to their validity by Pope Flynn, LLC, Columbia, South
Carolina, Bond Counsel, and the usual closing documents, which will include a certificate that
there is no litigation pending restraining or enjoining the issuance and delivery of the Bonds.

Tax Opinion. The opinion of Bond Counsel will also state that (a) interest on the Bonds is
excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes under the Internal Revenue Code of

D-9



EXHIBIT D
FORMS OF OFFICIAL NOTICE OF SALE

1986, as amended (the “Code”), and is not an item of tax preference for purposes of the federal
alternative minimum tax; and (b) the Bonds and the interest thereon are exempt from all State,
county, municipal, school district and all other taxes or assessments imposed within the State of
South Carolina, direct or indirect, general or special, whether imposed for the purpose of general
revenue or otherwise, except inheritance, estate, transfer or certain franchise taxes. The opinion
will further state that the Code establishes certain requirements which must be met subsequent to
the issuance and delivery of the Bonds in order that interest on the Bonds remains excluded from
gross income for federal income tax purposes. Noncompliance may cause interest on the Bonds
to be included in gross income retroactive to the date of issuance of the Bonds, regardless of the
date on which such noncompliance occurs or is ascertained. The County has covenanted to comply
with the requirements of the Code in the Bond Ordinance pursuant to which the Bonds are issued
and, in rendering its opinion, Bond Counsel will assume compliance with such covenants.

[Bank Qualified. The County has designated the Bonds as “qualified tax-exempt
obligations” for the purposes of Section 265(b)(3) of the Code relating to the ability of financial
institutions to deduct, from income for federal income tax purposes, interest expense that is
allocable to carrying and acquiring tax-exempt obligations.]

CUSIP Numbers. It is anticipated that CUSIP identification numbers will be printed on the
Bonds, but neither the failure to print such numbers on any Bond nor any error with respect thereto
shall constitute cause for failure or refusal by the Purchaser thereof to accept delivery of and pay
for said Bonds in accordance with the terms of its proposal. The County’s Financial Advisor will
timely apply for CUSIP numbers with respect to the Bonds as required by MSRB Rule G-34. All
expenses of preparation of the Bonds shall be paid by the County, but the CUSIP Global Services
charge for the assignment of the numbers shall be paid by the Purchaser.

Registrar and Paying Agent. , shall serve as Registrar and Paying Agent
for the Bonds. So long as the Bonds remain outstanding in book-entry form with DTC, all
payments of principal and interest with respect to the Bonds shall be through the facilities of DTC.

Official Statement. The Preliminary Official Statement dated on or about

202 (the “Preliminary Official Statement”) has been prepared by and deemed final by the County
for purposes of Rule 15¢2-12 of the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (the
“Rule”) but is subject to revision, amendment and completion in a final Official Statement as
provided in the Rule. The Preliminary Official Statement is available via . The County
designates the Purchaser as its agent for purposes of distributing copies of the final Official
Statement. The Purchaser agrees to (i) accept such designation, and (ii) assure proper dissemination
of the final Official Statement. The County will prepare and provide to the Purchaser, within seven
business days after the sale date, a mutually agreed upon number of printed copies of the final
Official Statement. The final Official Statement shall be in substantially the same form as the
Preliminary Official Statement, subject to any additions, deletions or revisions that the County
believes are necessary.

Continuing Disclosure: In order to assist the Purchaser in complying with the provisions
of the Rule, the County will undertake, pursuant to the Bond Ordinance and a Continuing
Disclosure Undertaking, to provide certain annual information reports and notices of certain

D-10



EXHIBIT D
FORMS OF OFFICIAL NOTICE OF SALE

events. A description of this undertaking is set forth in the Preliminary Official Statement and will
also be set forth in the final Official Statement.

In accordance with Section 11-1-85 of the Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976, as
amended, the County has covenanted in the Bond Ordinance authorizing the issuance of the Bonds
to file for availability in the secondary bond market when requested an annual independent audit,
within thirty (30) days of the County’s receipt of the audit; and event-specific information, within
thirty (30) days of an event adversely affecting more than five percent (5%) of the County’s
revenue or tax base. The only remedy for failure by the County to comply with this covenant shall
be an action for specific performance. Moreover, the County has specifically reserved the right to
amend the covenant to reflect any change in such Section 11-1-85 without the consent of any
bondholder.

Additional Information. Persons seeking additional information should communicate with
(1) Ralph Guarino, Finance Director, Pickens County, 222 McDaniel Avenue, B-2 Pickens, South
Carolina 29671 (telephone: (864) 898-5378; email: ralphg@co.pickens.sc.us); (ii) Lawrence E.
Flynn 111, Pope Flynn, LLC, bond counsel, 1411 Gervais Street, Columbia, South Carolina 29201
(telephone: (803) 354-4902; email: Iflynn@popeflynn.com); or (iii) David Cheatwood, First Tryon
Advisors, financial advisor to the County with respect to the offering of the Bonds, 6101 Carnegie
Blvd, Suite 210, Charlotte, NC 28209 (telephone (704) 926-2447; email:
dcheatwood@firsttryon.com).

PICKENS COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA

Official Notice of Sale dated:

D-11



EXHIBIT D
FORMS OF OFFICIAL NOTICE OF SALE

EXHIBIT A TO OFFICIAL NOTICE OF SALE

CERTIFICATE AS TO ISSUE PRICE

FORM OF ISSUE PRICE CERTIFICATE FOR QUALIFIED COMPETITIVE BID

$ *
PICKENS COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA
GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS
SERIES 2023

The undersigned, a duly authorized officer of , as the purchaser (the “Purchaser”)
of the above-captioned obligations (the “Bonds”) issued by Pickens County, South Carolina (the
“County”), represents and certifies, to establish the “issue price” of the Bonds within the meaning
of Section 148 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), and certain other
matters, as follows:

1. Reasonably Expected Initial Offering Prices.

@ As of the Sale Date, the reasonably expected initial offering prices of the
Bonds to the Public by the Purchaser are the prices listed in Schedule A-1 (the “Expected
Offering Prices”). The Expected Offering Prices are the prices for the Maturities of the
Bonds used by the Purchaser in formulating its bid to purchase the Bonds. Attached as
Schedule A-2 is a true and correct copy of the bid provided by the Purchaser to purchase
the Bonds.

(b) The Purchaser was not given the opportunity to review other bids prior to
submitting its bid.

(c) The bid submitted by the Purchaser constituted a firm offer to purchase the
Bonds.

(d) The Purchaser has an established industry reputation for underwriting new
issuances of municipal bonds.

2. Defined Terms.

@) “Maturity” means Bonds with the same credit and payment terms. Bonds
with different maturity dates, or Bonds with the same maturity date but different stated
interest rates, are treated as separate Maturities.

(b) “Public” means any person (including an individual, trust, estate,
partnership, association, company, or corporation) other than an Underwriter or a related
party to an Underwriter. The term “related party” for purposes of this certificate generally

“ Subject to adjustment as set forth in the Official Notice of Sale.
D-12



EXHIBIT D
FORMS OF OFFICIAL NOTICE OF SALE

means any two or more persons who have greater than 50% common ownership, directly

or indirectly.

(c) “Sale Date” means the first day on which there is a binding contract in
writing for the sale of a Maturity of the Bonds. The Sale Date of the Bonds is ,
20 .

(d) “Underwriter” as used herein means (1) any person that agrees pursuant to

a written contract with the County (or with the lead Underwriter to form a syndicate) to
participate in the initial sale of the Bonds to the Public, and (2) any person that agrees
pursuant to a written contract directly or indirectly with a person described in clause (1) of
this paragraph to participate in the initial sale of the Bonds to the Public (including a
member of a selling group or a party to a retail distribution agreement participating in the
initial sale of the Bonds to the Public).

The representations set forth in this certificate are limited to factual matters only. Nothing
in this certificate represents the Purchaser’s interpretation of any laws, including specifically
Sections 103 and 148 of the Code and the Treasury Regulations thereunder. The undersigned
understands that the foregoing information will be relied upon by the County with respect to certain
of the representations set forth in the Tax Certificate and with respect to compliance with the
federal income tax rules affecting the Bonds, and by Pope Flynn, LLC, as bond counsel to the
County, in connection with rendering its opinion that the interest on the Bonds is excluded from
gross income for federal income tax purposes, the preparation of the Internal Revenue Service
Form 8038-G, and other federal income tax advice that it may give to the County from time to
time relating to the Bonds.

Signed this day of , 2023.
[Purchaser]

By:
Name:
Title:

D-13



EXHIBIT D
FORMS OF OFFICIAL NOTICE OF SALE

Schedule A-1

Expected Offering Prices

D-14



EXHIBIT D
FORMS OF OFFICIAL NOTICE OF SALE

Schedule A-2

Copy of Winning Bid

D-15



EXHIBIT D
FORMS OF OFFICIAL NOTICE OF SALE

EXHIBIT B TO OFFICIAL NOTICE OF SALE

CERTIFICATE AS TO ISSUE PRICE

FORM OF ISSUE PRICE CERTIFICATE FOR NONQUALIFIED COMPETITIVE BID

$ *
PICKENS COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA
GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS
SERIES 20__

The undersigned, a duly authorized officer of , as the purchaser (the “Purchaser”)
of the above-captioned obligations (the “Bonds”) issued by Pickens County, South Carolina (the
“County”), represents and certifies, to establish the “issue price” of the Bonds within the meaning
of Section 148 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), and certain other
matters, that:

1. Sale of the General Rule Maturities. As of the date of this certificate (this
“Certificate”), for each Maturity of the General Rule Maturities, the first price at which 10% of

such Maturity was sold by to the Public is the respective price listed in Schedule A.
2. Initial Offering Price of the Hold-the-Offering-Price Maturities.
@ offered the Hold-the-Offering Price Maturities to the Public

for purchase at the respective initial offering prices listed in Schedule A (the “Initial Offering
Prices”) on or before the Sale Date. A copy of the pricing wire or equivalent communication for
the Bonds is attached to this Certificate as Schedule B.

(b) As set forth in the Official Notice of Sale and bid award, the has
agreed in writing that, (1) for each Maturity of the Hold-the-Offering-Price Maturities, it would
neither offer nor sell any of the Bonds of such Maturity to any person at a price that is higher than
the Initial Offering Price for such Maturity during the Holding Period for such Maturity (the “hold-
the-offering-price rule”), and (2) any selling group agreement shall contain the agreement of each
dealer who is a member of the selling group, and any retail distribution agreement shall contain
the agreement of each broker-dealer who is a party to the retail distribution agreement, to comply
with the hold-the-offering-price rule. Pursuant to the foregoing, no Underwriter has offered or sold
any Maturity of the Hold-the-Offering Price Maturities at a price that is higher than the respective
Initial Offering Price for that Maturity of the Bonds during the Holding Period.

3. Defined Terms.

@) “General Rule Maturities” means those Maturities of each series of the
Bonds shown in Schedule A hereto as the “General Rule Maturities.”

* Subject to adjustment as set forth in the Official Notice of Sale.
D-16



EXHIBIT D
FORMS OF OFFICIAL NOTICE OF SALE

(b) “Hold-the-Offering-Price Maturities” means those Maturities of each
series of the Bonds listed in Schedule A hereto as the “Hold-the-Offering-Price Maturities.”

() “Holding Period” means, with respect to a Hold-the-Offering-Price
Maturity, the period starting on the Sale Date and ending on the earlier of (1) the close of the fifth
business day after the Sale Date, or (2) the date on which has sold at least 10% of such
Hold-the-Offering-Price Maturity to the Public at prices that are no higher than the Initial Offering
Price for such Hold-the-Offering-Price Maturity.

(d) “Maturity” means Bonds of a series with the same credit and payment
terms. Bonds of a series with different maturity dates, or Bonds of a series with the same maturity
date but different stated interest rates, are treated as separate Maturities.

(e) “Public” means any person (including an individual, trust, estate,
partnership, association, company, or corporation) other than an Underwriter or a related party to
an Underwriter. The term “related party” for purposes of this Certificate generally means any two
or more persons who have greater than 50 percent common ownership, directly or indirectly.

U] “Sale Date” means the first day on which there is a binding contract in
writing for the sale of a Maturity of the Bonds. The Sale Date of the Bonds is , 20
(9) “Underwriter” means (1) any person that agrees pursuant to a written

contract with the County (or with the lead underwriter to form an underwriting syndicate) to
participate in the initial sale of the Bonds to the Public, and (2) any person that agrees pursuant to
a written contract directly or indirectly with a person described in clause (1) of this paragraph to
participate in the initial sale of the Bonds to the Public (including a member of a selling group or
a party to a retail distribution agreement participating in the initial sale of the Bonds to the Public).

The representations set forth in this Certificate are limited to factual matters only. Nothing
in this Certificate represents the Purchaser’s interpretation of any laws, including specifically
Sections 103 and 148 of the Code and the Treasury Regulations thereunder. The undersigned
understands that the foregoing information will be relied upon by the County with respect to certain
of the representations set forth in the Tax Certificate and with respect to compliance with the
federal income tax rules affecting the Bonds, and by Pope Flynn, LLC, as bond counsel to the
County, in connection with rendering its opinion that the interest on the Bonds is excluded from
gross income for federal income tax purposes, the preparation of the Internal Revenue Service
Form 8038-G, and other federal income tax advice that it may give to the County from time to
time relating to the Bonds.

Signed this __ day of , 202_.

[PURCHASER]
By:

Name:
Title:

D-17



EXHIBIT D
FORMS OF OFFICIAL NOTICE OF SALE

Schedule A

Expected Initial Offering Prices of the Bonds

D-18



EXHIBIT D
FORMS OF OFFICIAL NOTICE OF SALE

Schedule B

Copy of Winning Bid

D-19



No. 11:
OTHER REQUEST AGENDA ITEMS

a) PROPOSED UPDATES TO CATEECHEE POINT PARK
AND SOURCE OF AVAILABLE FUNDING



OVERVIEW

1109 Norris Highway
Central, SC 29630

Opened: 2018

PROPOSED IMPROVEMENTS

» beautification and landscaping at park entrance

» additional signage in park - safety, rules, etc. consistent with other parks
« historical/interpretive signage throughout park

» gate system at park entrance

« install security cameras

« install split rail fence along road

» additional landscaping - oaks, maples, etc.

» plant grass seed in place of existing mulch

» move kayak rack to kayak launch area

 install benches or picnic tables in existing grassy area

» remove graffiti under bridge

« plant privacy trees or install fencing near bridge to block access (include signage)
« install grills at both shelters

« install additional trash can at shelter

« install pet waste station(s)

» restroom building or portable toilets

« install play structures along existing sidewalk

PICKENS COUNTY



COST ESTIMATE

ITEM AMOUNT

Signage $2,000.00
Landscaping/Privacy Trees $5,000.00
Grills $2,000.00
Picnic Tables $5,000.00
Split Rail Fencing $1,000.00
Camera System $2,500.00
Play Structures $35,000.00
Total: $52,500.00

FUNDING REQUEST:

SOURCE AMOUNT

PCB Class Action Funding $27,000.00

Local Accommodations Funding $25,500.00 _




No. 13:

EXECUTIVE SESSION

Personnel — Section 30-4-70 (a) (1)

e County Employee Recognition






